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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA 

 
(Richmond Division) 

__________________________________________ 
  ) 
ALFONSO ALTAMIRA-ROJAS;  ) 
OJILVIA MORENO-SOLANO;  ) 
NIEVES MORENO-SOLANO; ) 
RUFINO CANO-VASQUEZ; ) 
ROSA MEJIA-BARRERA; ) 
JOSEFINA ROJAS-ALTAMIRA;  ) 
ALAN HARRELSON;  ) 
GERARDO ROJAS-GONZALEZ;  ) 
JULIA TENORIO-ANGEL;  ) Civ. No:   
GREGORIA MOLINA-CALDERÓN;  )  COMPLAINT  
SANTA OLIVIA LEON-VITERVO;  )   
RUFINO ORTIZ-VAZQUEZ;  ) 
DOMITILA VITERVO-ORTIZ;  ) 
LUBIA BARRIENTOS-GONZALEZ;  ) 
MARIO ESCOBAR-GUEVARA; ) 
GERARDO MARTINEZ-FONSECA;  ) 
PATRICIA ORTEGA;  ) 
TERESA MELGAR;  ) 
EVAN MURILLO-ARMENTA;  ) 
VICTORINO DE LA BARRERA-GASPAR;  ) 
EMILIO HERNÁNDEZ-BARAJAS;  ) 
JUAN DE JESÚS-VEGA;  ) 
ESMERALDA CASTILLO;  )  
GRACIELA BETANCOURTH-MEJIA;  ) 
EVERARDO ARELLANO-MEDINA;  ) 
JESÚS MURILLO-ARMENTA;  ) 
CLAUDIA HERNÁNDEZ-MONTOYA;  ) 
SUSANA ORTIZ-LOPEZ;  ) 
ROSÍO ELIZONDO DE GARCÍA;  ) 
SONIA O’BRIEN;  ) 
YULENNY MURILLO-ARMENTA;  ) 
MYRNA MARTÍNEZ-SALAS; AND ) 
FERNANDO PIÑON-MONROY, ) 
  ) 
 Plaintiffs, ) 
  ) 
 v. ) 
  ) 
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THE CITY OF RICHMOND; ) 
  ) 
DOUGLAS MURROW, in his official capacity as  ) 
City Building Commissioner; ) 
  ) 
JOHN WALSH, in his official capacity as )   
Operations Manager for the Code Enforcement ) 
Division of the Department of Planning and )  
Development Review; and ) 
  ) 
MARK BRIDGMAN, in his official capacity as ) 
Community Assisted Public Safety (“CAPS”) ) 
Program Manager for the Code Enforcement ) 
Division of the Department of Planning and )  
Development Review,  ) 
  ) 
 Defendants. ) 
__________________________________________) 
 

I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

1. This lawsuit is brought by thirty-two residents of mobile home parks in the City 

of Richmond (“the City”) challenging City policy targeting mobile homes and parks for 

aggressive code enforcement actions. As designed and carried out, the City’s enforcement 

campaign would drive hundreds of vulnerable, overwhelmingly Latino families from their 

homes and effectively eliminate mobile home parks from the City of Richmond. In carrying 

out its illegal and racially discriminatory policy, the City has misused its enforcement 

authority to intimidate these vulnerable communities and to retaliate, in violation of federal 

and state law, when residents have acted to defend their rights. 

2. Beginning in 2012, the City adopted a policy targeting mobile homes and mobile 

home parks with an aggressive campaign of inspections and Virginia Maintenance Code 

(“VMC”) enforcement. The City formulated and, in early 2014, began executing this policy 

with the knowledge that it would likely result in the forced displacement of hundreds of 
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disproportionately Latino families of Mexican and Central American national origin in 

violation, inter alia, of the federal Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3601 et seq.   

3. Even after a Coalition of concerned mobile home park residents and non-profit 

service providers approached the City offering less discriminatory alternatives that would 

address poor housing conditions without displacing families, the City continued to issue 

violation notices and to condemn mobile homes, leaving families homeless. Further, the City 

refused to provide these violation notices to Plaintiffs and other residents in languages other 

than English, despite the City’s knowledge that many of the Plaintiffs and other residents of 

the mobile home parks do not understand English.   

4. The City has subjected Plaintiffs and other mobile home park residents to: 

intrusive inspections with armed police escorts; threats of unwarranted condemnation, 

criminal prosecution, and large monetary fines; unreasonable and legally unjustified 

standards that make compliance nearly impossible; and no coordinated effort to address the 

entirely foreseeable mass displacement and resulting hardships created by condemnations. 

5. In addition to violating the federal Fair Housing Act, the City’s actions have 

violated Virginia’s Fair Housing Law, Va. Code § 36-96.1 et seq., and the Civil Rights Act 

of 1964, 42 U.S.C. §2000d et seq. 

6. Many mobile home park residents have invested thousands of dollars in 

purchasing, maintaining, and improving their homes, representing a huge investment for 

families with very few resources. Beyond the financial consequences, the City’s threatened 

condemnation of their homes leaves Plaintiffs and their families in fear for their future. The 

City’s policy and actions have cost many families their homes, assets, financial stability, and 
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community support network. Families whose homes have not yet been condemned are living 

with the constant anxiety and psychological toll of these same omnipresent threats.  

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

7. Jurisdiction is conferred on this Court by 28 U.S.C. § 1343, which grants 

jurisdiction over cases brought under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and any Act of Congress providing 

for the protection of civil rights, and 42 U.S.C. § 3613, because Defendants’ actions violated 

Plaintiffs’ federal statutory rights to fair housing.   

8. Supplemental jurisdiction over the state law claim asserted herein is conferred 

upon this Court by 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a). The transactions and occurrences giving rise to the 

Plaintiffs’ state law claim arose out of the same common nucleus of operative facts as those 

giving rise to their federal law claims. The state law claim asserted herein forms part of the 

same case or controversy as the federal law claims. 

9. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and (c). 

III. PARTIES 

Plaintiffs 

Rudd’s Trailer Park 

10. Plaintiff Alfonso Altamira-Rojas ("Mr. Altamira-Rojas") is a Latino man of 

Mexican national origin who lives with his wife and children in their manufactured home on 

lot 33A in Rudd's Trailer Park at 2911 Jefferson Davis Highway, Richmond, VA 23234. The 

family moved into 33A in December 2014. Previously, Mr. Altamira-Rojas and his family 
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lived in the home on lot 7A and, prior to that, at lot 6A for several years. He is a native 

Mixteco speaker who is proficient in Spanish but has very limited English proficiency. 

11. Plaintiff Ojilvia Moreno-Solano (“Ms. O. Moreno-Solano”) is a Latina woman 

who lives with her Latina sister, Plaintiff Nieves Moreno-Solano (“Ms. N. Moreno-Solano”), 

her sister's Latino husband, Plaintiff Rufino Cano-Vasquez (“Mr. Cano-Vasquez”), and their 

three children—aged five years, two years, and four months—as well as her own sixteen year 

old son. Ms. O. Moreno-Solano, Ms. N. Moreno-Solano, and Mr. Cano-Vasquez live at lot 

34B in Rudd’s Trailer Park at 2911 Jefferson Davis Highway, Richmond, VA 23234. The 

family has lived there since 2010. All three are native Mixteco speakers of Mexican national 

origin. Ms. O. Moreno-Solano is proficient in Spanish. Ms. N. Moreno-Solano and Mr. 

Cano-Vasquez have limited Spanish proficiency. All three have very limited English 

proficiency. 

12. Plaintiff Rosa Mejia-Barrera ("Ms. Mejia-Barrera") is a Latina woman of 

Mexican national origin who lives with her partner, Silvino Barrera, and six of their 

children—ages six to fourteen years—in their manufactured home on lot 23B in Rudd's 

Trailer Park at 2911 Jefferson Davis Highway, Richmond, VA 23234. Ms. Mejia-Barrera and 

her family have lived at Rudd’s since 2003. She is a native Mixteco speaker with good 

proficiency in Spanish and very limited English proficiency. 

13. Plaintiff Josefina Rojas-Altamira (“Ms. Rojas-Altamira”) is a Latina woman of 

Mexican national origin who lives in a manufactured home on lot 34A in Rudd’s Trailer Park 

at 2911 Jefferson Davis Highway, Richmond, VA 23234. She is a native Mixteco speaker 

who has limited proficiency in Spanish and very limited English proficiency. 
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14. Plaintiff Alan Harrelson (“Mr. Harrelson”) is a white male, native of the United 

States, who lives in a manufactured home on lot 44A in Rudd's Trailer Park at 2911 Jefferson 

Davis Highway, Richmond, VA 23234. He has lived there for several years. He is a native 

English speaker. 

15. Plaintiffs Gerardo Rojas-Gonzalez (“Mr. Rojas-Gonzalez”) and Julia Tenorio-

Angel (“Ms. Tenorio-Angel”) are a married Latino couple of Mexican national origin living 

with their three children—ages one to six years—in their manufactured home on lot 51A in 

Rudd’s Trailer Park at 2911 Jefferson Davis Highway, Richmond, VA 23234. They have 

lived there since 2009. Both are native Mixteco speakers who are proficient in Spanish but 

have very limited English proficiency. 

16. Plaintiff Gregoria Molina-Calderón ("Ms. Molina-Calderón") is a Latina woman 

of Salvadoran national origin who lives with her husband, Eugenio Calderón, in their 

manufactured home on lot 1A in Rudd’s Trailer Park at 2911 Jefferson Davis Highway, 

Richmond, VA 23234. They have lived there since 2011. She is a native Spanish speaker 

with very little English proficiency. 

17. Plaintiff Santa Olivia Leon-Vitervo ("Ms. Leon-Vitervo") is a Latina woman of 

Mexican national origin who lives with her parents and six siblings in a manufactured home 

on lot 40A in Rudd's Trailer Park at 2911 Jefferson Davis Highway, Richmond, VA 23234. 

She has lived there since approximately 2009. She is a native Mixteco speaker who is fluent 

in Spanish and English. 

18. Plaintiff Rufino Ortiz (“Mr. Ortiz-Vazquez”) is a Latino man of Mexican national 

origin who lives with his wife, Eulogia de Jesus Pinzon, and their four children—ages six to 

twelve years—in a manufactured home on lot 5B in Rudd’s Trailer Park at 2911 Jefferson 
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Davis Highway, Richmond, VA 23234. They have lived there since approximately 2010. He 

is a native Mixteco speaker who is proficient in Spanish but has very limited English 

proficiency. 

19. Plaintiff Domitila Vitervo-Ortiz (“Ms. Vitervo-Ortiz”) is a Latina woman of 

Mexican national origin who lives with her husband Rufino Solano and their five children—

ages seventeen, fifteen, eleven, ten, and eight years—at 2517 Cole Street, Richmond, VA 

23234. Until July 2015 they lived in their manufactured home on lot 3B in Rudd’s Trailer 

Park at 2911 Jefferson Davis Highway, Richmond, VA 23234. She is a native Mixteco 

speaker who is proficient in Spanish but has very limited English proficiency. 

Mobile Towne Mobile Home Park 

20. Plaintiffs Lubia Barrientos-Gonzalez (“Ms. Barrientos-Gonzalez”) and her 

husband Mario Escobar-Guevara (“Mr. Escobar-Guevara”) are Latinos who live with their 

adult son in their manufactured home on lot 26 in Mobile Towne Mobile Home Park at 5005 

Old Midlothian Turnpike, Richmond, VA 23224. They have lived there since approximately 

2012. Both are native Spanish speakers with very limited English proficiency. 

21. Plaintiff Gerardo Martínez-Fonseca (“Mr. Martínez-Fonseca”) is a Latino man of 

Guatemalan national origin who lives with his wife and their five-year-old daughter in their 

manufactured home on lot 47 in Mobile Towne Mobile Home Park at 5005 Old Midlothian 

Turnpike, Richmond, VA 23224. Mr. Martinez and his family have lived in the home since 

purchasing it in 2011. He is a native Spanish speaker with very limited English proficiency. 

22. Plaintiff Patricia Ortega (“Ms. Ortega”) is a Latina woman of Salvadoran national 

origin who lives with her partner, Miguel Martinez, and their three children—aged eighteen, 

eight, and two—in their home on lot 10 in Mobile Towne Mobile Home Park at 5005 Old 
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Midlothian Turnpike, Richmond, VA 23224. Ms. Ortega and her family have lived there 

since purchasing the home in 2009. She is a native Spanish speaker with very limited English 

proficiency. 

23. Plaintiff Teresa Melgar (“Ms. Melgar”) is a Latina woman of Guatemalan 

national origin who lives alone in her manufactured home on lot 39 in Mobile Towne Mobile 

Home Park at 5005 Old Midlothian Turnpike, Richmond, VA 23224. Ms. Melgar has lived 

there since she purchased the home in 2014. She is a native Spanish speaker and has very 

limited English proficiency. 

24. Plaintiff Evan Murillo-Armenta (“Mr. E. Murillo-Armenta”) is a Latino man of 

Mexican national origin who lives with his wife, their two children—aged four and two 

years—and his cousin on lot 57 in Mobile Towne Mobile Home Park at 5005 Old Midlothian 

Turnpike, Richmond, VA 23224. Mr. E. Murillo-Armenta has lived in Mobile Towne for 

nine years, the last three of them at his current address. Mr. E. Murillo-Armenta is a native 

Spanish speaker with very limited English proficiency. 

25. Plaintiff Victorino de la Barrera-Gaspar (“Mr. de la Barrera-Gaspar”) is a Latino 

man of Mexican national origin who lives with his wife, a family friend, and two children—

ages seventeen and thirteen years—on lot 67 in Mobile Towne Mobile Home Park at 5005 

Old Midlothian Turnpike, Richmond, VA 23224. Mr. de la Barrera-Gaspar has lived in the 

park for approximately ten years. He is a native Spanish speaker with very limited English 

proficiency. 

26. Plaintiff Emilio Hernández-Barajas (“Mr. Hernández-Barajas”) is a Latino man of 

Mexican national origin who lives with his wife, adult daughter-in-law, and six-year-old 

granddaughter on lot 62 in Mobile Towne Mobile Home Park at 5005 Old Midlothian 
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Turnpike, Richmond, VA 23224. He has lived there since 2002. Mr. Hernández-Barajas is a 

native Spanish speaker with very limited English proficiency. 

27. Plaintiffs Juan de Jesús-Vega (“Mr. de Jesús-Vega”) and Esmeralda Castillo-

Quiná (“Ms. Castillo-Quiná”) are Latinos of Guatemalan national origin who live with their 

three children—ages one to nine years—on lot 59 in Mobile Towne Mobile Home Park at 

5005 Old Midlothian Turnpike, Richmond, VA 23224. They purchased their home 

approximately four years ago. They are native Spanish speakers with very limited English 

proficiency.  

28. Plaintiff Graciela Betancourth-Mejía (“Ms. Betancourth-Mejía”) is a Latina 

woman of Guatemalan national origin who lives with her husband, Héctor Castro, and their 

six year old daughter in their manufactured home on lot 6 in Mobile Towne Mobile Home 

Park at 5005 Old Midlothian Turnpike, Richmond, VA 23224. Ms. Betancourth-Mejía and 

her family have lived there since 2009, first renting the home and then purchasing the home 

in 2014. She is a native Spanish speaker with very limited English proficiency. 

29. Plaintiff Everardo Arellano-Medina (“Mr. Arellano-Medina”) is a Latino man of 

Mexican national origin who lives with his wife and their one-year-old son, in their 

manufactured home on lot 46 in Mobile Towne Mobile Home Park at 5005 Old Midlothian 

Turnpike, Richmond, VA 23224. Mr. Arellano-Medina and his family have lived there since 

purchasing the home in 2009. He is a native Spanish speaker with very limited English 

proficiency. 

30. Plaintiff Jesús Murillo-Armenta (“Mr. J. Murillo-Armenta”) is a Latino man of 

Mexican national origin who lives with his wife, María Galván-García, and their three 

children—ages twelve years, five years, and six months—in their manufactured home on lot 
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49 at Mobile Towne Mobile Home Park at 5005 Old Midlothian Turnpike, Richmond, VA 

23224. They have lived there since 2004. Mr. J. Murillo-Armenta is a native Spanish speaker 

with limited English proficiency.  

31. Plaintiff Claudia Hernández-Montoya ("Ms. Hernández-Montoya") is a Latina 

woman of Mexican national origin who lives with her husband, José Leon, and their four 

children—ages five to seventeen years—in their manufactured home on lot A10 of Mobile 

Towne Mobile Home Park at 5005 Old Midlothian Turnpike, Richmond, VA 23224. She and 

her husband have lived there since purchasing their home in 2005. She is a native Spanish 

speaker with very limited English proficiency. 

32. Plaintiff Susana Ortiz-López (“Ms. Ortiz-López”) is a Latina woman of 

Guatemalan national origin who lives with her husband, Domingo Pablo, their two 

children—ages six and three years—and her sister-in-law, in their manufactured home on lot 

30 in Mobile Towne Mobile Home Park at 5005 Old Midlothian Turnpike, Richmond, VA 

23224. They have lived there for one and a half years. Ms. Ortiz-López is a native Spanish 

speaker with very limited English proficiency. 

33. Plaintiff Rosío Elizondo-de García (“Ms. Elizondo-de García”) is a Latina woman 

of Mexican national origin who lives with her two children—aged five and four—in their 

manufactured home on lot 45 in Mobile Towne Mobile Home Park at 5005 Old Midlothian 

Turnpike, Richmond, VA 23224. They have lived there for one year. Ms. Elizondo-de García 

is a native Spanish speaker with very limited English proficiency. 

34. Plaintiff Sonia O’Brien (“Ms. O’Brien”) is a Latina woman of Salvadoran 

national origin who lives with her adult grandson, daughter and her daughter’s boyfriend, in 

her manufactured home on lot 79 in Mobile Towne Mobile Home Park at 5005 Old 



11 

Midlothian Turnpike, Richmond, VA 23224. They have lived there for ten years. Ms. 

O’Brien is a native Spanish speaker with limited English proficiency. 

35. Plaintiff Yulenny Murillo-Armenta (“Ms. Murillo-Armenta”) is a Latina woman 

of Mexican national origin who lives with her husband and two children—ages fourteen and 

twelve years—in their manufactured home on lot 81 in Mobile Towne Mobile Home Park at 

5005 Old Midlothian Turnpike, Richmond, VA 23224. They have lived there for fifteen 

years. Ms. Murillo-Armenta is a native Spanish speaker with limited English proficiency. 

36. Plaintiffs Myrna Martínez-Salas (“Ms. Martínez-Salas”) and Fernando Piñon-

Monroy (“Mr. Piñon-Monroy”) are Latinos of Mexican national origin. They live with their 

four children—ages eighteen, sixteen, eight, and seven years—in their manufactured home 

on lot 52 in Mobile Towne Mobile Home Park at 5005 Old Midlothian Turnpike, Richmond, 

VA 23224. They have lived there since 2013. They are native Spanish speakers with very 

limited English proficiency. 

Defendants 

37. Defendant City of Richmond (“the City”) is a municipal corporation organized 

under the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia. All references to the City include any 

individual or entity acting on behalf of, or under the authority derived from, the City.  

38. Defendant Douglas Murrow (“Mr. Murrow”) is the City Building Commissioner. 

He is being sued in his official capacity. 

39. Defendant John Walsh (“Mr. Walsh”) is the Operations Manager for the Code 

Enforcement Division of the Department of Planning and Development Review. He is being 

sued in his official capacity.  
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40. Defendant Mark Bridgman (“Mr. Bridgman”) is a Community Assisted Public 

Safety (“CAPS”) Program Manager for the Code Enforcement Division of the Department of 

Planning and Development Review. He is being sued in his official capacity. 

IV. FACTS 

The City’s Enforcement Campaign in Mobile Home Parks 

41. In 2012, the Code Enforcement Division of the Department of Planning and 

Development Review (“Code Enforcement”) began planning a campaign of inspections of 

mobile homes and mobile home parks to enforce the requirements of the Virginia 

Maintenance Code (“VMC”). The decision to plan and launch the campaign was 

discretionary and proactive in both scope and timing—neither in response to complaints 

about specific conditions nor timed to address immediate hazards. 

42. Most of the mobile homes in the City of Richmond are several decades old. 

Many, including those owned and occupied by Plaintiffs in this case, are at least forty years 

old.  

43. In meetings with community advocates, Code Enforcement personnel have 

repeatedly expressed the opinion that the vast majority of older mobile homes should be 

demolished, not repaired, even though doing so would certainly result in the forced 

displacement of hundreds of the City’s poorest families—overwhelmingly Latinos of 

Mexican and Central American national origin—and the practical elimination of mobile 

home parks as a source of affordable housing in Richmond. 
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44. In a meeting in May 2014, Deputy Chief Administrative Officer for Economic 

and Community Development, Peter Chapman (“Mr. Chapman”), stated that the City wanted 

to eliminate mobile home parks from the City of Richmond. 

45. Code Enforcement’s stated policy is that all of the mobile home parks in the City 

of Richmond will be subject to this enforcement campaign. Code Enforcement’s Operations 

Manager, Mr. Walsh, has stated, “There is no trailer park, and there is no trailer park owner, 

that is going to get away from us this time around.” Mr. Walsh has also reported to the 

Richmond City Council’s Public Safety Standing Committee that Code Enforcement will 

inspect all mobile home parks, and that the entire process will likely take two years to 

complete. 

46. In February 2014, the City began inspections and enforcement actions in Rudd’s 

Trailer Park (“Rudd’s”). 

47. In March 2015, the City began inspections and enforcement actions in Mobile 

Towne Mobile Home Park (“Mobile Towne”). 

Demographic Context 

48. There are approximately 500 occupied mobile homes (a.k.a. manufactured homes, 

trailers) in the City of Richmond, located on lots in nine mobile home parks (a.k.a. trailer 

parks, manufactured housing communities). Four of the mobile home parks contain about 

100 lots each, one contains around 60 lots, and the remaining four parks are much smaller. 

49.  According to U.S. Census data, the overall population of the City of Richmond is 

less than 7% Latino. U.S. Census Bureau, 2009-2013 5-Year American Community Survey, 

Table B03003. By contrast, the combined population of the mobile home parks in the City is 

approximately 70% Latino. U.S. Census Bureau, Census 2010, Summary File 1, Table P9, 
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http://factfinder2.census.gov (select advanced search; select “block” under Geographies; 

select Virginia from “within State;” select “all blocks within Richmond city;” search for “P9” 

in topic or table search; select table and download) (last visited July 14, 2014). 

50. According to the City of Richmond’s 2013-2015 Analysis of Impediments to Fair 

Housing Choice (“Richmond AI”), as of 2011, 9.5% of all Latino households in the City of 

Richmond lived in mobile homes, as compared to only 0.4% of all white households. 

Therefore, if a family is Latino, they are twenty-four times more likely to live in a mobile 

home park than a white family. The Richmond AI also notes that for Latinos in Richmond, 

“the first and most affordable housing option is one of several trailer parks….” 

51. There is no other class of housing in Richmond that is as overwhelmingly Latino 

as mobile homes. Census 2010, Summary File 1, Table P9. 

52. U.S. Census data suggest that the first two large mobile home parks the City 

targeted for inspections and enforcement—Rudd’s and Mobile Towne—are the large parks 

with the highest percentage of Latino residents. At the start of the City’s enforcement 

campaign, the population of Rudd’s was approximately 75% Latino, and that of Mobile 

Towne was around 90% Latino. The population of each of the other two large parks was 

approximately 60% Latino. Id. 

53. Many of the adult Latino residents of mobile home parks in Richmond are limited 

English proficient (“LEP”). Spanish is the primary language of most of those residents, but 

there is also a significant community of Mixteco-speaking residents for whom Spanish is a 

second language. Several of the households in Rudd’s are headed by adults who understand 

virtually no English and little Spanish, who are proficient only in Mixteco. 
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Inspections at Rudd’s Trailer Park 

54. Prior to launching the enforcement campaign with inspections in Rudd’s Trailer 

Park, Code Enforcement invited the park’s residents to a meeting at a nearby community 

center on February 5, 2014. At that meeting inspectors explained the types of conditions they 

would be looking for and the stated purpose of the inspections.  

55. Starting in February 2014 and continuing for several weeks, Code Enforcement 

inspected almost all of the roughly 100 mobile homes in Rudd’s.  

56. Inspections were carried out by groups of two or three City personnel: a building 

inspector from Code Enforcement, a Spanish-language (but not Mixteco) interpreter from the 

City’s Office of Multicultural Affairs, and sometimes another building inspector or a 

uniformed police officer. The inspector knocked on each resident’s door and, through an 

interpreter when necessary, asked permission to enter to inspect. They then entered the home 

and spent a short time reviewing conditions and looking for VMC violations, offering little 

other explanation. The inspector told the resident that a Notice of Violations (“NOV”) would 

be delivered within a few weeks to inform them of violations they would need to remedy. 

57. Code Enforcement issued NOVs to approximately 85 of the homes in Rudd’s 

during the spring of 2014. Most households received two NOVs: one listing specific VMC 

code provisions violated, and another declaring the property to be unsafe and/or unfit for 

occupancy. The NOVs placed the homes and households under explicit threat of 

condemnation, criminal court action, and fines up to $2,500 per day per violation for 

noncompliance. 

58. NOVs for code violations in the park’s infrastructure were also delivered to the 

ownership of Rudd’s at approximately the same time. 
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59. All of the NOVs were issued in English only, even though the City was well 

aware that the vast majority of the homeowners did not understand English.1 Not even the 

boilerplate NOV text—with critical information about the City’s enforcement authority, the 

legal significance and consequences of the NOVs, and the availability of an appeal—was 

translated into a language the residents understood. Nor was adequate oral interpretation of 

the NOVs into Spanish or Mixteco provided when the document was delivered to residents. 

60. Code Enforcement’s refusal to translate any portion of the NOVs was intentional, 

willful, and made in disregard for the residents’ rights. The City has multiple Spanish 

translators on staff, in its Office of Multicultural Affairs, to provide “[a]ssistance to city 

departments in translating written documents and forms” into Spanish. See 

http://www.richmondgov.com/HispanicLiaison/ (website last accessed 8/7/15 by Phillip T. 

Storey). 

61. All of the NOVs issued to Rudd’s properties were addressed to The Virginia 

Molloy LLC, 1201 Chantilly St., Richmond, VA 23226—the park owner and landlord, but 

not the owner of any of the mobile homes. Copies were hand delivered by City personnel to 

the subject property, either personally given to a resident or posted on the door. 

62. Most of the inspected homes in Rudd’s received NOVs citing code violations for 

structural and/or electrical modifications made without permits or inspection. Approximately 

half of the homes issued NOVs were also cited for lack of a primary heating system.   

                                                           
1 In 2008 Legal Aid Justice Center represented four Spanish-speaking residents of Rudd’s who received NOVs in 
English only, without translation or interpretation. LAJC directly contacted the City of Richmond’s Department of 
Community Development Property Maintenance Division and requested that Code Enforcement provide residents 
with NOVs in Spanish. The City ignored the request. The City’s Hispanic Liaison Office (now the Office of 
Multicultural Affairs) was also informed of the issue.  
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63. Code Enforcement imposed unnecessary, unrealistic, and legally unjustified 

requirements and standards for mobile home owners to meet in order to pass inspection.  

64. The NOVs, explicitly and as explained by Code Enforcement, required that 

homeowners do the following: (a) provide a report by a licensed engineer, including 

drawings and calculations, for all repairs implicating the home’s structure; (b) obtain the 

approval of an engineer for any alterations to the home’s electrical system; (c) install a 

central heating system comparable to the home’s original system; and/or (d) replace windows 

and doors only with original-equipment-manufacturer parts or manufacturer-approved 

replacement parts.  

65. None of the above requirements are found in the VMC, and all impose heavy 

burdens on homeowners.  

a. Requiring a report, complete with calculations and drawings, from a structural 

engineer for even minor repairs means thousands of dollars in up-front costs for 

homeowners. 

b. Requiring a licensed engineer for any modification to the electrical system is 

similarly costly. 

c. Requiring the installation of a primary heating system comparable to the original 

installed system also imposes thousands of dollars in costs.2  

d.  Requiring original-equipment-manufacturer or manufacturer-approved 

replacement parts for mobile homes that are several decades old imposes great 

logistical difficulty as well as costs.  

                                                           
2 Plaintiffs contend that this requirement is applicable under the VMC only to rented properties, not owner-occupied 
properties. (Compare VMC § 602.2 to International Property Maintenance Code § 602.2.) All of the Plaintiffs’ 
homes are owner-occupied. 
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66. Code Enforcement’s imposition of unreasonable standards suggests that the City’s 

intent is to displace residents and condemn mobile homes, not simply to ensure the safety of 

residents. 

67. During the spring and early summer of 2014, many Rudd’s homeowners, 

including Plaintiffs, made appointments to meet with Code Enforcement inspectors to follow 

up on the NOVs they had received. Many residents report that during these appointments, 

inspectors were accompanied by interpreters, but they did not translate or explain the full 

contents of the NOVs. Rather, the inspectors told residents of a few issues they considered 

most critical to address. They did not inform the residents of each listed violation, the 

specific remedy required, nor of their rights to appeal the NOVs.  

68. In these follow-up discussions, the inspectors advised some residents, including 

Plaintiff Ms. O. Moreno Solano, not to invest in repairs to their homes until they knew if the 

owner of the park was going to make necessary repairs to the park infrastructure, because the 

park would otherwise close down completely. At the same time, Code Enforcement was 

surely aware that the ownership of Rudd’s was waiting to see if residents would make needed 

repairs to avoid condemnation (and the loss of rental income) before committing to make 

repairs to the park infrastructure . Likewise, the City undertook no legal actions to encourage 

maintenance repairs by the landlord of Rudd’s, despite the availability of legal tools for that 

very purpose. Virginia’s Manufactured Home Lot Rental Act, Va. Code § 55-248.52, 

authorizes the city attorney—but not affected residents—to file for injunctive relief to 

remedy violations of that act. 
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Condemnations in Rudd’s Trailer Park 

69. Code Enforcement consistently told Rudd’s residents and their advocates in the 

community, at the February 5 community meeting and in subsequent meetings, that the 

City’s objective was not to condemn homes. Code Enforcement stated that as long as a 

resident was making efforts to bring their home into compliance, the City would not 

condemn it. 

70. However, by the beginning of April 2014, Code Enforcement began condemning 

homes in Rudd’s. An initial wave of condemnations included approximately seven homes, 

many of which were occupied at the time, resulting in the immediate displacement of the 

residents.  

71. In the spring and early summer of 2014, Sacred Heart Center and the Legal Aid 

Justice Center (“LAJC”), two local nonprofits that serve the community at Rudd’s and other 

mobile home park residents, approached Code Enforcement and others in the City of 

Richmond administration to raise concerns about the enforcement campaign and its effects 

on the residents.  

72. In the months of April, May, and June, representatives of Sacred Heart Center and 

LAJC met with representatives of the City of Richmond, including Mr. Walsh, -Mr. 

Murrow” (the City’s “code official” with legal responsibility for enforcing the Virginia 

Maintenance Code), Mr. Bridgman-, and Mr. Chapman-.  

73. During those meetings, the City representatives expressed concern for the well-

being of the affected residents, but indicated that almost all of the homes cited could not 

realistically be repaired, that none of the requirements stated in the NOVs could be waived or 
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modified, and that they would not or could not modify their approach to public safety to 

avoid the mass displacements of the residents.  

74. At each of these meetings, Code Enforcement also reiterated that residents’ homes 

would not be condemned as long as the homeowners were making good faith attempts to 

remedy the violations identified in the NOVs. 

75. Code Enforcement performed subsequent condemnations in June, July, and 

August 2014. Approximately 10 homes were condemned in those actions, many of which 

were occupied at the time. Those families were immediately displaced and became homeless. 

76. Further, despite Code Enforcement’s assurances, it condemned at least two 

properties while residents were actively making good-faith efforts to remedy violations.  

77. On June 19, 2014, Arturo Ortiz obtained a demolition permit from the City to 

remove the non-conforming porch from his home, unit 5A. The family was preparing to 

remove it when Code Enforcement condemned their home on July 1, 2014. Inspectors 

notified them in the morning of the condemnation and gave them until 5:00 p.m. to 

completely vacate the home. The family became homeless as a result. 

78. Hector Estrada (“Mr. Estrada”), owner of unit 2A, obtained a permit from the City 

in July 1, 2014, to make the required repairs to his home’s electrical system. He paid an 

electrician over $1,000 to make those repairs. On July 22 the electrical work performed under 

the permit passed re-inspection by the City. Mr. Estrada later removed his non-conforming 

front porch to comply with his NOVs. Despite his active and costly efforts to comply with 

the NOVs, Code Enforcement abruptly condemned his home on August 13, 2014, and he was 

left homeless. 
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79. Code Enforcement continued to condemn homes, though at a reduced pace, 

through October, 2014. As of this filing, approximately twenty homes in Rudd’s have been 

condemned. Most of those homes were occupied at the time of their condemnation, 

displacing the residents.  

The City’s Refusal to Adopt Reasonable, Less Discriminatory Alternatives 

80. In July 2014, a group of concerned community members, local nonprofit 

organizations, and a representative of Rudd’s residents formed a coalition to attempt to find a 

positive solution to the problems faced by the community, including ways to address the life 

safety and code concerns of the City while keeping the families in their homes and the 

community intact. The group, which called itself the Mobile Home Park Coalition (“MHP 

Coalition” or “Coalition”), consisted of social service providers, churches, legal service 

providers, community development corporations, and other nonprofits.  

81. The Coalition sent a letter to Mayor Dwight Jones on July 18, 2014, asking that 

his administration work with the Coalition and the Rudd’s community to avoid the 

humanitarian crisis of mass displacement. The letter asked for a meeting between Coalition 

representatives and the Mayor’s office to discuss positive solutions. The Mayor’s office 

failed for months to schedule the requested meeting, despite repeated requests from the 

Coalition. 

82. In an August 26, 2014 meeting between representatives of the Coalition and 

Messrs. Chapman, Murrow, and Walsh, Mr. Walsh agreed to drop the City’s requirement, 

stated on the NOVs, that an engineer approve all electrical work. He instead stated that a 

licensed electrician would suffice.  
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83. When asked about dropping the requirement for an engineer’s report for any 

structural repairs, Mr. Walsh stated that the requirement was statutory and could not be 

waived. Following the meeting, members of the Coalition repeatedly requested a citation to 

the code provision requiring an engineer’s report, but the City has never provided it. 

(Counsel has been unable to find any such statutory requirement.)  

84. At the August 26 meeting Mr. Chapman was asked about the availability of 

funding from the City to help residents make needed repairs to their homes and provide 

services to displaced families. Mr. Chapman stated that the City would like to provide 

funding to help the residents but their immigration status precluded the City from using 

federal funds. (City officials believed that many of the adult residents were undocumented.) 

No actual legal basis was offered for this assertion.  

85. On August 28, 2014 a follow-up meeting between the Coalition, Messrs. Murrow, 

Walsh, Bridgman, and City building inspector Randall Masters (“Mr. Masters”) was held at 

Rudd’s. Mr. Murrow agreed that while the Coalition prepared and executed a comprehensive 

rehabilitation plan for bringing the homes into compliance with the code, inspectors would 

not condemn (except in cases of imminent danger) the homes of Rudd’s residents who were 

participating in the plan and who were represented by LAJC. In response, the Coalition 

began to draft a comprehensive repair plan proposal and LAJC began executing 

representation agreements with residents.  

86. The Coalition submitted its comprehensive repair plan proposal for Rudd’s to 

Code Enforcement on September 10, 2014. [Exhibit 1]  

87. Despite Mr. Murrow’s agreement to suspend condemnations and the City’s 

receipt of the draft comprehensive repair plan, on September 11, 2014, Code Enforcement 
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took a step that could only be reasonably interpreted as an attempt to sabotage the Coalition’s 

plans to save Rudd’s community from mass displacement and homelessness.  

88. On September 11 at around 3:30 P.M., Mr. Walsh sent an email to a 

Coalition/LAJC representative (Counsel in this case). [Exhibit 2] The email stated that, 

unless LAJC confirmed by 9:00 A.M. the following morning that it had representation 

agreements with the affected home owners, a list of 27 homes in Rudd’s would be 

condemned for “structural related issues.” (The email also listed more homes scheduled for 

condemnation between ten days and two weeks later.)  

89. Despite being given less than two working hours of notice, through great effort 

LAJC was able to forestall most of the mass condemnation that Code Enforcement had 

planned for the following morning. Four homes were condemned on September 12, two of 

which were already unoccupied.  

90. In fact, several of the homes threatened with condemnation on September 12 had 

no serious violations: no notices of unsafe structure threatening condemnation or violations 

for “structural related issues.” Furthermore, one of the homes condemned on September 12 

had not been cited for a serious violation and was not scheduled for condemnation for 

another ten days or more. (That home—lot 33B—was eventually ‘un-condemned,’ but only 

after its owner, Roberto Lira-Mendoza, and his housemates had spent the weekend 

homeless.)  

91. The threatened condemnation of homes without the kinds of serious violations 

Code Enforcement claimed motivated its actions on September 12, and the actual 

condemnation of 33B at least ten days ahead of schedule, suggest illegitimate intent by the 
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City. At a minimum, it reflects the City’s recklessness in imposing the drastic measure of 

making these families homeless.  

92. Also on September 12, members of the Coalition were present at Rudd’s with a 

structural engineer, Charles Field (“Mr. Field”), who had agreed to volunteer his services to 

help residents meet Code Enforcement’s requirements. Seeing Mr. Masters on site, Mr. Field 

took the opportunity to introduce himself. Mr. Masters responded that Mr. Field was 

probably unqualified to provide the engineer’s reports necessary to comply with the NOVs 

unless he was a “HUD-certified engineer.” Counsel has been unable to verify the existence of 

any such certification, much less any legal justification for such a requirement. 

93. The Coalition then scheduled a meeting with the Mayor’s administration for 

October 9, 2014. On October 7, the Coalition sent the City representatives invited to the 

meeting a document outlining the crisis at Rudd’s, the Coalition’s vision for a positive 

outcome, and its requests for assistance from the City. [Exhibit 3] This document (“vision 

document”), together with the comprehensive repair plan proposal of September 10, 

presented the City with an alternative to its disruptive, enforcement-only campaign that 

threatened the Latino communities in mobile home parks with mass displacement.  

94. The Coalition’s vision document also requested specific actions by the City, 

including the allocation of funds, withholding condemnations based on the City’s incorrect 

interpretation of the code’s heating requirements (VMC § 602.2), and instituting legal actions 

under Virginia’s Manufactured Home Lot Rental Act to encourage needed maintenance 

repairs by the owner of the park.  

95. At the October 9 meeting, Mr. Chapman again asserted that the City could not use 

federal funds to help repair the homes at Rudd’s because of restrictions related to residents’ 
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immigration status; but he also admitted that the City still had not identified the legal basis 

for the presumed restrictions. Mr. Chapman and other officials also acknowledged the 

extensive costs in City services that would result from the mass displacement of the families 

from mobile home parks, but refused to commit to allocate any funds to the proposed 

rehabilitation project.  

a. While reading prepared remarks, Mr. Bridgman blamed poor communication in 

the enforcement process explicitly on limitations of the residents’ “intellect.” 

b. Mr. Murrow refused to commit to refrain from condemning homes based on the 

City’s disputed (and incorrect) interpretation of the heating requirement.  

c. Finally, the City refused to pursue legal action under Virginia’s Manufactured 

Home Lot Rental Act (“MHLRA”) (action available only to the City Attorney, 

and not to the residents) to compel the owner of Rudd’s to make needed 

maintenance repairs and upgrades to the electrical grid and other park 

infrastructure. Va. Code § 55-248.52. Such maintenance by the landlord would 

have given residents the confidence to invest in repairs to their own homes, which 

inspectors had discouraged some of them from making. 

96. On October 15, 2014, the Coalition sent a follow-up letter to various City 

representatives to address serious concerns and to urgently request another meeting. [Exhibit 

4] The letter: 

a. Informed the City that LAJC’s legal research suggested that federal funds could, 

in fact, be used to pay for the type of in-kind, safety-related rehabilitation work 

that was needed in the mobile home parks, regardless of residents’ immigration 

status; 
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b. Explained again the heating requirements of VMC § 602.2, which the City sought 

to apply incorrectly to owner-occupied as well as rented structures as a basis for 

condemning homes;  

c. Renewed the Coalition’s request for the City Attorney to seek an injunction under 

the MHLRA to compel the owner of Rudd’s to make needed repairs and 

upgrades;  

d. Warned the City that its enforcement campaign may violate the federal Fair 

Housing Act; and  

e. Explained how the City’s failure to provide adequate language access services to 

Rudd’s residents likely violated Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, and its 

failure to translate the NOVs clearly placed the City outside the HUD-defined 

“safe harbor” for compliance. 72 Fed. Reg. 2732, 2753 (Jan. 22, 2007). 

97. No representative of the City acknowledged or responded to the letter of October 

15, 2014, nor did the City offer another meeting. 

98. Over the remainder of October 2014, the Coalition sent additional requests for 

action by the City, along with copies of the letter of October 15, to many members of the 

Mayor’s administration and City Council: Assistant City Attorney Greg Lukanuski (“Mr. 

Lukanuski”), with responsibility for housing and code enforcement matters; Acting Deputy 

Chief Administrative Officer for Economic and Community Development Lee Downey; 

Deputy Chief Administrative Officer for Human Services Debra Gardner; the Mayor’s Chief 

of Staff Grant Neely; Mr. Murrow; City Council Member Reva Trammell; and the members 

of City Council’s Land Use, Housing, and Transportation Standing Committee, made up of 

Council Members Jonathan Baliles, Kathy Graziano, Michelle Mosby, and Ellen Robertson.  
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99. As before, no one from the Mayor’s administration or City Council made any 

effort to address the concerns raised in the letter of October 15 or meet again with the 

Coalition as requested. 

The City Withholds Available Funding to Address Safety Concerns or Community Needs  

100. The Coalition worked to raise funds for a rehabilitation campaign at Rudd’s from 

October 2014 into 2015, providing regular updates to the City. The Coalition sent letters and 

emails updating various members of the Mayor’s administration and City Council on 

November 12 and December 18, 2014, and on January 30 and February 27, 2015.   

101. Each of those communications expressed the Coalition’s ongoing concern about 

the issues outlined in the letter of October 15, 2014, as well as its continued hope that the 

City would take concrete action to support the efforts to avoid mass condemnations and 

displacement. As before, the City offered no constructive response to any of those 

communications.  

102. Even though Mr. Chapman acknowledged at the October 9 meeting that costs 

imposed by displaced residents’ increased need for City services might even total more than 

the amount needed to fund the rehabilitation of mobile homes to ensure residents’ safety, the 

City has steadfastly refused to make any funds available to assist the community to make 

safety repairs to their mobile homes or to address the needs of the families that would be 

displaced by the Code Enforcement actions. It has even refused to contribute modest amounts 

of funds needed to access matching grants offered to the Coalition from area philanthropies 

for this work.  
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103. The City has offered a series of evolving, unsupported justifications for its refusal 

to allocate funding to assist the community, even when existing programs and unused federal 

funds were available.  

104. On or around November 17, 2014, City of Richmond Project Development 

Manager Daniel Mouer (“Mr. Mouer”) contacted Richmond Metropolitan Habitat for 

Humanity (“Habitat”) (a member of the MHP Coalition), indicated that the City had extra 

Community Development Block Grant (“CDBG”) funds to disburse very soon, and asked if 

Habitat could utilize a large amount of funds quickly.  

105. On or around December 3, 2014, Habitat CEO Jane Helfrich followed up with 

Mr. Mouer to inquire about the availability of the CDBG funds to support the rehabilitation 

work at Rudd’s. He responded that the money could not be used for the project, partly 

because Department of Housing and Urban Development rules required that the money be 

spent on rehabilitation only for homes with permanent foundations and/or a minimum 

twenty-year lease on the land.  

106. Counsel has been unable to find any such HUD restrictions on CDBG funds. To 

the contrary, HUD regulation 24 CFR § 570.202(a)(5) seems to explicitly allow CDBG funds 

to be used for the rehabilitation of mobile homes. 

107. Furthermore, the City has existing programs utilizing CDBG and HOME funding 

to assist low-income homeowners in making needed repairs to their homes, none of which 

were made available to the residents of Rudd’s or other mobile home parks. The activities of 

these programs include “the rehabilitation of owner-occupied structures…by substantially 

upgrading or replacing major structural systems necessary to improve health and safety of the 

occupants” and providing “assistance citywide to low- and moderate-income households who 
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have been cited with code violations or have emergency repairs that threaten their health or 

safety and who need financial help to correct them.” City of Richmond, FY 2013-2015 

Consolidated Plan, FY 2013 Annual Action Plan 161-64 (2013). See also City of Richmond, 

Consolidated Annual Action Plan for Program Year 2014-2015 2-3, 40, 89 (2014); City of 

Richmond, Consolidated Annual Performance and Evaluation Report (CAPER): Narrative 

Statement and End of Program Year Report CDBG, HOME, ESG & HOPWA Funds, Fiscal 

Year 2013-2014, For the Period July 1, 2013 to June 30, 2014, 22 (2014) (showing more 

funds available than actually expended). 

108. In addition to withholding funds to help remedy the safety concerns identified by 

Code Enforcement without mass displacement, the City has utterly failed to take the most 

basic steps to address the obvious harms its code enforcement campaign would impose on 

displaced families.  

109. The City has admitted that its code enforcement campaign against mobile home 

parks was on the drawing board since 2012. Yet the only measure the City has taken to 

address the entirely foreseeable harms caused by mass condemnations and displacement has 

been to attach a flyer to NOVs suggesting affected residents contact the Department of Social 

Services (“DSS”).  

110. Neither DSS nor any other City agency has ever created a coordinated plan for 

addressing the varied needs of the hundreds of families at risk of displacement as a result of 

the campaign—even after many months of public and private pleas from residents and the 

Coalition. 

111. The City refused to provide any type of coordinated assistance to the many 

Rudd’s residents at imminent risk of homelessness from Code Enforcement actions despite 
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having a program for this very purpose supported by CDBG funding. According to the City’s 

own reports, “The Housing Code Enforcement & Counseling Program is designed to provide 

housing counseling and immediate interventions to citizens of Richmond who have been 

displaced, or are at risk of being displaced, because of the Code enforcement activities of the 

City's Housing Inspectors.” City of Richmond, FY 2013-2015 Consolidated Plan, FY 2013 

Annual Action Plan 161-64 (2013). See also City of Richmond, Consolidated Annual Action 

Plan for Program Year 2014-2015 2-3, 40, 89 (2014); City of Richmond, Consolidated 

Annual Performance and Evaluation Report (CAPER): Narrative Statement and End of 

Program Year Report CDBG, HOME, ESG & HOPWA Funds, Fiscal Year 2013-2014, For 

the Period July 1, 2013 to June 30, 2014, 22 (2014) (showing more funds available than 

actually expended). 

Inspections and Intimidation at Mobile Towne Mobile Home Park 

112. Despite the serious legal and humanitarian concerns the Coalition and others had 

been warning the City about for months, Code Enforcement planned to continue its 

campaign—virtually unchanged—in additional parks in 2015.  

113. In February 2015, Code Enforcement distributed flyers (“Mobile Towne flyer”) to 

residents at Mobile Towne, located at 5005 Old Midlothian Turnpike. The flyer informed 

residents that inspections would begin in March and invited them to a community meeting 

about the campaign, to be held on February 23 at the nearby Goodwill center. [Exhibit 5] 

114. The City’s Mobile Towne flyer contained summary information about what Code 

Enforcement would require for homes to pass inspection. These were essentially the same 

standards Code Enforcement imposed on Rudd’s homeowners and required: an engineer’s 



31 

report for all structural repairs; original-equipment-manufacturer or manufacturer-approved 

replacement parts; and a primary heating systems even for owner-occupied homes. 

115. At the community meeting on February 23, Code Enforcement described how the 

inspection campaign would operate in Mobile Towne. Mr. Bridgman confirmed that 

inspectors would impose the standards listed on the flyer. He also stated that NOVs would be 

distributed only in English. 

116. On March 1, 2015, the Coalition held a separate community meeting for Mobile 

Towne residents. At the meeting the Coalition described the City’s enforcement actions at 

Rudd’s, the effects on the community, and the legal standards Code Enforcement should be 

imposing. The Coalition also informed the residents of their rights with respect to City 

inspectors, including the right to withhold consent for the inspectors to enter their homes 

unless presented with a valid inspection warrant.   

117. On March 3, Code Enforcement began inspecting homes at Mobile Towne. Then 

and on subsequent inspection dates, numerous Latino residents of Mexican and Central 

American national origin exercised their right to withhold consent to the inspection of their 

homes, some by posting a written notice to that effect on their doors. [Exhibit 6.] The written 

notice informed the inspectors of the residents’ right to withhold consent and contained 

contact information for counsel at Legal Aid Justice Center. The notice appeared on the 

doors of approximately one-third of the homes in Mobile Towne and were clearly visible to 

the city inspectors. 

118.  The City threatened some of the residents who withheld consent to inspection on 

March 3 with harsher treatment for not allowing inspectors to enter without a warrant.  
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119. In a March 9, 2015 email to Richmond City Council member Ellen F. Robertson, 

City Attorney Allen L. Jackson similarly stated that residents of mobile home parks may be 

“threatened with eviction, either because a safety issue actually exists but is not being 

addressed or because the occupant seeks to deny access to an inspector” (emphasis added). 

[Exhibit 7] 

120. Mobile Towne residents again met with the Coalition on March 8, and expressed 

their concern over the inspectors’ threats. As a result, on March 9 the Coalition sent City 

representatives a proposal for addressing the safety concerns about the homes without 

placing residents under the psychological stress of explicit threats of condemnation, criminal 

prosecution, and large monetary fines. [Exhibit 8] The proposal suggested that the City 

contract with a qualified nonprofit organization to provide safety education, informal 

inspections, repair-related consultations, and even repair services to help residents address 

the safety concerns with their homes.  

121. At a meeting with Coalition representatives on March 23, Mr. Murrow and Mr. 

Walsh rejected the proposal of March 9. 

122. During inspections in Mobile Towne on March 10 and 17, unlike those of March 

3, building inspectors approached many homes accompanied by uniformed, armed police 

officers. Some residents state that they intended to withhold consent for inspectors to enter 

their homes, but they relented because the appearance of a police officer with the inspectors 

made them believe they would be arrested if they did not consent. 

123. The City is surely aware that such tactics are especially intimidating in 

communities of Mexican and Central American national origin whose members are unsure of 

their legal rights and who often have heightened anxiety over encounters with the police.  
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124. The City’s threats to residents withholding consent to enter their homes—that 

inspectors would identify more violations or would summarily condemn homes—show a 

basic contempt for the dignity and rights of the residents, including rights protected by the 

Fair Housing Act.  

125. In response to the City’s aggressive tactics and threats, a group of approximately 

half of the households in Mobile Towne sent a letter on March 30, 2015, to Messrs. Murrow, 

Bridgman, Walsh, Lukanuski, and Mark Olinger (Director of the Department of Planning and 

Development Review). The letter addressed many concerns with the enforcement campaign 

and the way the City was treating the residents. [Exhibit 9] It also asked the City to address 

its safety concerns through a qualified nonprofit, rather than through intensely disruptive 

threats of condemnation, criminal court action, and large monetary fines.  

126. The City did not acknowledge or respond to the letter from the Mobile Towne 

residents. 

127. In the weeks following the inspections at Mobile Towne, the City delivered 

NOVs to homes they had inspected. As at Rudd’s, the NOVs placed the homes and 

households under explicit threat of condemnation, criminal court action, and fines up to 

$2,500 per day per violation for noncompliance. 

128. The inspected homes in Mobile Towne received NOVs citing a variety of code 

violations for structural and/or electrical modifications, and/or lack of a primary heating 

system.  

129. All of the NOVs were addressed to Mobile Towne Partnership, P.O. Box 36614, 

Richmond, VA 232350000 (sic)—the park owner and landlord. Copies were hand delivered 
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by City personnel to the subject property, either personally given to a resident or posted on 

the door. 

130. All of the NOVs delivered to Mobile Towne were issued in English only. They 

were not accompanied by any explanation in Spanish of the residents’ legal rights, their right 

to appeal, or the legal significance of the NOVs. 

131. Code Enforcement’s persistent refusal to provide the NOVs or any part of them in 

a language the residents understood, despite repeated requests for translated notices—

requests dating back to 2008 and including, in October 2014, a clear explanation of the City’s 

legal obligations under Title VI—represents a willful disregard of the legal rights of the 

Latino residents of Mexican and Central American national origin. It suggests intentional 

discrimination by the City against Plaintiffs and their neighbors on the basis of national 

origin.  

132. The City’s refusal to translate the NOVs denied to limited-English-proficient, 

residents of Mexican and Central American national origin (including most of the Plaintiffs) 

the opportunity to meaningfully access the services of Code Enforcement and related City 

agencies on the same terms as native-born U.S. citizens who are not limited-English-

proficient. It also denied them the meaningful opportunity to exercise their rights to appeal 

the NOVs. 

Injuries Caused by the City’s Policy and Actions 

133. As a result of the City’s aggressive enforcement campaign, many of the residents 

of Rudd’s and Mobile Towne have suffered serious emotional distress, anxiety, loss of sleep, 

family discord, physical ailments, homelessness, and other injuries. 
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Rudd’s Trailer Park Residents 

Alfonso Altamira-Rojas 

134. Plaintiff Alfonso Altamira-Rojas (“Mr. Altamira-Rojas”) is a Latino man of 

Mexican national origin who lives in Rudd’s Trailer Park. He is a native Mixteco speaker 

who is proficient in Spanish but has very limited English proficiency. 

135. In early March 2014, an inspector came to Mr. Altamira-Rojas’ home, along with 

a Spanish interpreter and a police officer, to inspect. The inspector and interpreter entered, 

but the police remained outside. Some weeks later, an inspector returned with NOVs for Mr. 

Altamira-Rojas, unaccompanied by an interpreter. In English, the inspector told Mr. 

Altamira-Rojas about some of the repairs that would be required, but did not fully explain the 

NOVs. He did not inform Mr. Altamira-Rojas of his right to appeal. 

136. Several weeks later, a City inspector and a police officer returned and condemned 

Mr. Altamira-Rojas’ home, which he was still occupying with his wife and their four 

children. The family abruptly became homeless. 

137. As a result of the City’s policy and actions, since February 2014 Mr. Altamira-

Rojas has suffered significant emotional distress, anxiety, lack of sleep, humiliation, and 

depression. After the City condemned their home, his family remained homeless for seven 

months, unable to afford other housing. During that time, Mr. Altamira-Rojas and his family 

stayed with friends and family, mostly other residents of Rudd’s.  

138. Mr. Altamira-Rojas has also suffered emotional distress from observing the fear, 

anxiety, discomfort, insecurity, and suffering of his wife and children while the family 

remained homeless as a result of the City’s actions. 
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Ojilvia Moreno-Solano, Nieves Moreno-Solano, and Rufino Cano-Vasquez 

139. Plaintiffs Ojilvia Moreno-Solano (“Ms. O. Moreno-Solano”), Nieves Moreno-

Solano (“Ms. N. Moreno-Solano”), and Rufino Cano-Vasquez (“Mr. Cano-Vasquez”) are 

Latinos of Mexican national origin who live together in Rudd’s Trailer Park. Ms. O. Moreno-

Solano and Ms. N. Moreno-Solano are sisters. Ms. N. Moreno-Solano and Mr. Cano-

Vasquez are married. They are native Mixteco speakers. Ms. O. Moreno-Solano is proficient 

in Spanish. Ms. N. Moreno-Solano and Mr. Cano-Vasquez have limited Spanish proficiency. 

All three have very limited English proficiency. 

140. In April 2014, a City inspector came to the Moreno-Cano home with a Spanish 

interpreter. They inspected the home and left. Several weeks later an inspector and a Spanish 

interpreter returned to deliver the NOVs, which were entirely in English. The interpreter read 

some of the requirements from the NOVs to Ms. O. Moreno-Solano, but when Ms. O. 

Moreno-Solano asked follow up questions about the violations and what would be required 

to comply, the interpreter told her they would not answer her questions. Ms. O. Moreno-

Solano was not informed of her right to appeal the NOVs. 

141. Ms. O. Moreno-Solano later made an appointment for the inspector to return so 

she could receive an explanation of the repairs required. The inspector came without an 

interpreter; however, Ms. O. Moreno-Solano managed to find someone nearby who could 

interpret from English to Spanish, and paid her $40 to interpret for the meeting with the 

inspector. The inspector instructed the interpreter to translate select sections of the NOVs. 

Again, Ms. O. Moreno-Solano was not informed of her right to appeal the NOVs. 
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142. While describing the violations, through Ms. O. Moreno-Solano’s interpreter, the 

inspector suggested to her that Rudd’s was going to close so she might not want to make the 

repairs.  

143. As a result of the City’s policy and actions, since April 2014 the Moreno-Cano 

family has suffered significant emotional distress, lack of sleep, depression, and various 

physical symptoms.  

144. Ms. O Moreno-Solano, whose work income supports the entire family, has 

suffered from depression and anxiety as a result of the City’s actions. She worries constantly 

that the inspectors will suddenly send the police to the house to force the family out, that they 

will be left homeless, and that the children will suffer.  

145. Ms. N. Moreno-Solano, as a result of the City’s actions, also suffers from 

depression and anxiety. She often cries, shakes, and has trouble sleeping, worrying about 

how the situation will affect her children. She believes the anxiety has affected her lactation 

and her nursing baby.  

146. Mr. Cano-Vasquez, who was already dealing with an injury he received at work, 

has been suffering from anxiety, depression, lack of sleep, nervousness, and headaches as a 

result of the City’s actions. He worries constantly that the family will be left homeless.   

Rosa Mejia-Barrera 

147. Plaintiff Rosa Mejia-Barrera (“Ms. Mejia-Barrera”) is a Latina woman of 

Mexican national origin. She is a native Mixteco speaker with good proficiency in Spanish 

and very limited English proficiency.  

148. Ms. Mejia-Barrera attended the Rudd’s community meeting organized by Code 

Enforcement on February 5, 2014. As a result of the meeting, she believed that the City was 
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only planning to inspect the electrical systems and porches of the mobile homes and would 

likely require very modest repairs.  

149. Inspectors came to Ms. Mejia-Barrera’s home with a Spanish interpreter and 

inspected it.  

150. Around two weeks later, a new inspector delivered Ms. Mejia-Barrera’s NOVs. 

He spoke English and did not have an interpreter. To the best of Ms. Mejia-Barrera’s 

understanding, the inspector informed her that she needed to hire a licensed contractor to 

alter her porch, which had been modified to make it accessible for her wheelchair-bound son. 

He did not explain all the violations listed in the NOVs or inform her of her right to appeal. 

151. In the following weeks and months, Ms. Mejia-Barrera and her partner hired a 

contractor and obtained a construction permit for work on the porch and an electrical permit 

from the City. Some of the required repairs were completed. 

152. As a result of the City’s policy and actions, since February 2014 Ms. Mejia-

Barrera has suffered significant emotional distress, lack of sleep, and difficulty concentrating. 

She is worried that the City will condemn her home or will close the entire mobile home 

park, leaving the family homeless. Because of the family’s size (six of their children live 

with Ms. Mejia-Barrera and her partner), their very low income, and the needs of her 

disabled son, the family has been unable to locate other affordable housing in the area and 

Ms. Mejia-Barrera is worried that they will be forced to relocate to Mexico. She is worried 

that such a move would severely harm the education and healthy development of her 

children. 
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153. Ms. Mejia-Barrera has also suffered emotional distress from observing the fear 

and anxiety of her children. In particular, her nine-year-old has suffered nightmares and 

difficulty sleeping because he is afraid that the family will be forced to move.  

Josefina Rojas-Altamira 

154. Plaintiff Josefina Rojas-Altamira (“Ms. Rojas-Altamira”) is a Latina woman of 

Mexican national origin who lives in Rudd’s Trailer Park. She is a native Mixteco speaker 

who has limited proficiency in Spanish and very limited English proficiency. 

155. In April 2014, an inspector came to Ms. Rojas-Altamira’s home, along with a 

Spanish interpreter and a police officer. Through the interpreter, the inspector asked to enter 

Ms. Rojas-Altamira’s home. Because of the presence of the police officer, she was very 

afraid and let the group in. All three entered her home. Ms. Rojas-Altamira was afraid that 

the police officer would force her to leave her home.  

156. Several weeks later, an inspector returned with a Spanish interpreter to deliver 

NOVs to Ms. Rojas-Altamira. The interpreter read the list of violations to her in Spanish. 

They did not inform Ms. Rojas-Altamira of her right to appeal. 

157. As a result of the City’s policy and actions, since February 2014 Ms. Rojas-

Altamira has suffered significant emotional distress, lack of sleep, and difficulty 

concentrating. She is constantly worried that the City will condemn her home or will close 

the entire mobile home park, and she will be left homeless. 

Alan Harrelson 

158. Plaintiff Alan Harrelson (“Mr. Harrelson”) is a white man who lives in Rudd’s 

Trailer Park. He is a native of the United States and speaks English. 
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159. In April 2014, City inspectors apparently inspected his home when Mr. Harrelson 

was not present. They later returned and condemned the home for lack of electrical service 

and exterior structure violations. He was left homeless as a result of the condemnation. 

160. Mr. Harrelson, who was without a source of regular income in 2014, remained 

homeless for nearly a year. In early 2015 he was able to have electrical service restored to his 

home and to remedy the exterior structure violations. After several attempts to have City 

inspectors return to re-inspect his home, the condemnation was removed in the spring of 

2015 and Mr. Harrelson returned to his home. 

161. As a result of the City’s policy and actions, since February 2014 Mr. Harrelson 

has suffered significant emotional distress, anxiety, and depression. He was afraid that when 

he was present in the park, the police would come and arrest him. Now that he is back in his 

home, he still suffers anxiety and looks over his shoulder for fear of harassment by police or 

Code Enforcement. 

Gerardo Rojas-Gonzalez and Julia Tenorio-Angel 

162. Plaintiffs Gerardo Rojas (“Mr. Rojas-Gonzalez”) and Julia Tenorio-Angel (“Ms. 

Tenorio-Angel”) are Latinos of Mexican national origin who live in Rudd’s Trailer Park. 

Both are native Mixteco speakers who are proficient in Spanish but have very limited English 

proficiency. 

163. Mr. Rojas-Gonzalez and Ms. Tenorio-Angel attended the Rudd’s community 

meeting organized by Code Enforcement on February 5, 2014. As a result of the City’s 

presentation, they were under the impression that the City would help the residents make the 

repairs their homes might need in order to comply with code requirements.  
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164. A few weeks after the meeting, two building inspectors came to their home with a 

Spanish interpreter and a police officer. The police officer remained outside the home when 

the inspectors and the interpreter entered. Through the interpreter, the inspectors informed 

Mr. Rojas-Gonzalez and Ms. Tenorio-Angel that their porch needed some repairs and a 

permit. Mr. Rojas-Gonzalez showed the inspectors plans he had drawn of the porch, and they 

indicated that they looked good. 

165. Around one month later, an inspector returned to deliver the NOVs. He was not 

accompanied by an interpreter and did not offer a detailed explanation of the NOVs, which 

were in English. Again, Mr. Rojas-Gonzalez showed the inspector his plans for the porch, 

and received a positive response. The inspector did not inform the family of their right to 

appeal. 

166. After receiving the NOVs, Mr. Rojas-Gonzalez went to City Hall and attempted 

to apply for a permit for the porch, using the plans he had drawn up and showed to the 

inspectors. He was denied a permit and told that he needed a structural engineer to draw up 

plans.  

167. As a result of the City’s policy and actions, since March 2014 Mr. Rojas-

Gonzalez and Ms. Tenorio-Angel have suffered emotional distress and have had trouble 

sleeping. They worry that their home will be condemned in spite of the family’s willingness 

to make repairs, and they will have to move and find a new home for their four children. 

They no longer feel safe in their current situation. 

168. Since the City’s enforcement actions began, Mr. Rojas-Gonzalez has suffered 

from anxiety and depression. He is worried that the money they invested to fix up their 

home—$3,000 for repairs before the inspections began—will be wasted.  
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169. Ms. Tenorio-Angel is worried about what will happen if the City condemns the 

home while her husband is away at work.  

Gregoria Molina-Calderón 

170. Plaintiff Gregoria Molina-Calderón (“Ms. Molina-Calderón”) is a Latina woman 

of Salvadoran national origin who lives in Rudd’s Trailer Park. She is a native Spanish 

speaker with very limited proficiency in English. 

171. Ms. Molina-Calderón’s home was inspected in early March 2014. At that time 

one inspector and an interpreter informed her that they had to enter her home to evaluate it 

for violations. She does not remember them asking for her consent. She let them enter 

because she was afraid. The inspector informed her that she would need permits in order to 

adequately repair the various issues he found.  

172. When the City returned a few weeks later, she received NOVs and was informed 

by the inspector and an interpreter that the City would condemn her home if she did not make 

the repairs specified. The interpreter explained only some of the content of the NOVs. Ms. 

Molina-Calderón was not informed of her right to appeal the NOVs. 

173. As a result of the City’s policy and actions, since March 2014 Ms. Molina-

Calderón has suffered significant emotional distress, lack of sleep, depression and anxiety, 

and significant stomach pains. She is worried that the City will condemn her home or close 

the entire mobile home park, and that she and her husband will be made homeless because 

they do not have enough money to find a new home.  
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Santa Olivia Leon-Vitervo 

174. Plaintiff Santa Olivia Leon-Vitervo (“Ms. Leon-Vitervo”) is a Latina woman of 

Mexican national origin who lives at Rudd’s Trailer Park with her parents and six younger 

siblings. She is a native Mixteco speaker who is fluent in Spanish and English.  

175. Ms. Leon-Vitervo was at school when City inspectors came to her home. Because 

her parents are native Mixteco speakers with limited Spanish proficiency and very little 

English proficiency, she led her family’s attempts to comply with City requirements. Also 

because of her language abilities, Ms. Leon-Vitervo helped many other Rudd’s residents 

attempt to understand their NOVs and the City’s requirements. She served as the key resident 

representative on the MHP Coalition, assisting in efforts to serve the needs of the 

community. 

176. Because Ms. Leon-Vitervo helped many of her limited-English-proficient 

neighbors, including going to the City’s permit office with them, Code Enforcement 

personnel seemed to look to her to convey information to other residents, rather than taking 

responsibility to provide adequate language access. She had several conversations with City 

building inspectors about the unreasonableness of the standards the City was imposing on 

residents, and she attended the meeting at City Hall on October 9, 2014. 

177. As a result of the City’s policy and actions, since early 2014 Ms. Leon-Vitervo 

has suffered from significant emotional distress and anxiety. For months, she worried that the 

City would condemn her family’s home or close the entire park, leaving her family homeless. 

This anxiety was especially acute after she witnessed the City condemn neighbors’ homes 

and leave families immediately homeless—including her uncle Arturo Ortiz and his family. 

She still worries that her family will not be able to find other housing. 
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178. She has also suffered from stress as a result of the City’s actions because it 

unfairly thrust her into a position of responsibility for the welfare of the entire community, as 

she attempted to provide her neighbors with language services and concrete information that 

the City refused to provide.  

179. Ms. Leon-Vitervo has suffered further emotional distress from seeing the effects 

the City’s actions have had on her parents, siblings, neighbors, and other children in the park. 

Many times, children in Rudd’s asked her what would happen to their families and homes, 

revealing their own fears and those of their parents.  

Domitila Vitervo-Ortiz 

180. Plaintiff Domitila Vitervo-Ortiz (“Ms. Vitervo-Ortiz”) is a Latina woman of 

Mexican national origin. She is a native Mixteco speaker who is proficient in Spanish but has 

very limited English proficiency. 

181. In late February 2014, an inspector came to Ms. Vitervo-Ortiz’s home with a 

Spanish interpreter. They inspected the home and told Ms. Vitervo-Ortiz they would return 

with a notice. The family did not receive any notices directly from the City. However, 

through counsel the family received two NOVs the City issued, in English, for their home. 

182. On July 1, 2014, Ms. Vitervo-Ortiz was present in Rudd’s when Code 

Enforcement condemned the home of her brother, Arturo Ortiz, and his family, even though 

they were actively working to comply with their NOVs. She witnessed their family suddenly 

become homeless when their home was condemned. 

183. As a result of the City’s policy and actions, since late February 2014, Ms. 

Vitervo-Ortiz has suffered significant emotional distress and anxiety. She has worried that 
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the City would condemn her home without warning, as it did to her brother, or would close 

the entire mobile home park, leaving her family homeless.  

184. Due to the constant stress and worry the City’s actions have caused, Ms. Vitervo-

Ortiz and her family moved to a rental property in late July 2015. She continues to worry, 

however, because their housing costs are much higher than they were at Rudd’s and she is 

not sure how long they can afford the new housing. 

185. Ms. Vitervo-Ortiz has also suffered emotional distress from observing the fear 

and anxiety of her husband and children as a result of the City’s actions. Her husband 

worried constantly that, from one day to the next, the City would return and force the family 

from their home. He has also worried about meeting the financial burden of other housing. 

Their children were also very worried that they would have to move (as they eventually did) 

away from the community at Rudd’s where they had lots of family and cousins they had 

grown up with. 

Rufino Ortiz-Vazquez 

186. Plaintiff Rufino Ortiz-Vazquez (“Mr. Ortiz-Vazquez”) is a Latino man of 

Mexican national origin. He is native Mixteco speaker who is proficient in Spanish but has 

very limited English proficiency. 

187. Inspectors and an interpreter came to Mr. Ortiz-Vazquez's home when only his 

wife was home. She consented to their entry. They informed his wife that the entire mobile 

park would be closed if all of the necessary repairs were not made to the various mobile 

homes being inspected.  
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188. The inspectors returned to his mobile home with an interpreter to deliver NOVs. 

The interpreter related only parts of the NOVs in Spanish. The family was not informed of 

their right to appeal.  

189. In response to the NOVs, Mr. Ortiz-Vazquez and his wife hired a contractor and 

began making repairs.  

190. Approximately two months after the initial inspection, the building inspector 

suggested to Mr. Ortiz-Vazquez’s wife that the family wait to make repairs because he did 

not believe the owner of Rudd’s would make the repairs to park infrastructure necessary for 

the park to remain open. 

191. As a result of the City’s policy and actions, since March 2014, Mr. Ortiz-Vazquez 

has suffered significant emotional distress and anxiety. He worries that the City will 

condemn his home or close the entire mobile home park. He is worried that his family will be 

left homeless. 

192. Mr. Ortiz-Vazquez has also suffered emotional distress from observing the fear 

and anxiety of his wife and children. His wife has lost sleep and has been unable to 

concentrate on her daily tasks because she is concerned that they will not be able to find new 

housing in a timely manner if their home is condemned. His children are also nervous that 

the family will have to move, which has also contributed to his anxiety.  

 Mobile Towne Mobile Home Park Residents 

Lubia Barrientos-Gonzalez and Mario Escobar-Guevara 

193. Plaintiffs Lubia Barrientos-Gonzalez (“Ms. Barrientos-Gonzalez”) and Mario 

Escobar-Guevara (“Mr. Escobar-Guevara”) are Latinos of Guatemalan national origin who 
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live in Mobile Towne. They are native Spanish speakers with very limited English 

proficiency. 

194. During the City’s inspections of Mobile Towne, an inspector and an interpreter 

came to Ms. Barrientos-Gonzalez and Mr. Escobar-Guevara’s house. They consented to their 

entry because they believed they were legally required to do so. The inspector and interpreter 

entered the home.  

195. An interpreter returned to deliver NOVs to Ms. Barrientos-Gonzalez, but did not 

read the violations from the NOVs to her in Spanish. Ms. Barrientos-Gonzalez was not 

informed of her right to appeal the NOVs. 

196. As a result of the City’s policy and actions, since February 2015 Ms. Barrientos-

Gonzalez and Mr. Escobar-Guevara have suffered significant emotional distress and lack of 

sleep. They are worried that the City will condemn their home or will close the entire mobile 

home park, leaving them homeless and resulting in the total loss of the investment they have 

made in the home.  

Gerardo Martinez-Fonseca 

197. Plaintiff Gerardo Martinez-Fonseca (“Mr. Martinez-Fonseca”) is a Latino man of 

Costa Rican national origin who lives in Mobile Towne. He is a native Spanish speaker with 

very limited English proficiency. 

198. Mr. Martinez-Fonseca received the Mobile Towne flyer from the City in February 

2015 informing him of the upcoming inspections, the City’s requirements for passing 

inspection, and the community meeting. He attended the community meeting organized by 

Code Enforcement on February 23. 
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199. Because of the requirements Code Enforcement conveyed in the flyer and at the 

meeting—for engineering reports, original-equipment-manufacturer or manufacturer 

approved parts, etc.—Mr. Martinez-Fonseca believed it would be almost impossible for his 

home to pass the inspection, even with a reasonable investment in repairs.  

200. Mr. Martinez-Fonseca posted a notice on his front door withholding consent for 

City inspectors to enter the home. The City did not attempt to inspect his home.  

201. As a result of the City’s policy and actions, since February 2015 Mr. Martinez-

Fonseca has suffered significant emotional distress, lack of sleep, and difficulty 

concentrating. He is constantly worried that the City will condemn his home, will close the 

entire mobile home park, will attempt to coerce his wife and daughter to allow them to 

inspect their home, or will retaliate against the family (including by using the police and 

courts) for withholding their consent to inspect.  

202. He is afraid that the City’s actions will force his family to return to the kind of 

unsafe apartment community where, prior to moving to Mobile Towne, he had suffered two 

traumatic assaults and death threats.  

203. Mr. Martinez-Fonseca has also suffered emotional distress from observing the 

fear and anxiety his wife and daughter have experienced. His five-year-old daughter has 

expressed fear of the City inspectors and, as a consequence, has stayed inside rather than play 

outside as she used to do. His wife has lost sleep due to her fear that the City will close 

Mobile Towne. She has been afraid for the safety and well-being of her child and the 

family’s potential exposure to violence and drugs if they are forced to leave Mobile Towne. 
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Patricia Ortega 

204. Plaintiff Patricia Ortega (“Ms. Ortega”) is a Latina woman of Salvadoran national 

origin who lives in Mobile Towne. She is a native Spanish speaker with very limited English 

proficiency. 

205. Ms. Ortega received the Mobile Towne flyer from the City in February 2015 

informing her of the upcoming inspections, the City’s requirements for passing inspection, 

and the community meeting. She attended the community meeting organized by Code 

Enforcement on February 23. 

206. Because of the requirements Code Enforcement conveyed in the flyer and at the 

meeting—for engineering reports, original-equipment-manufacturer or manufacturer 

approved parts, etc.—Ms. Ortega believed it would be almost impossible for her home to 

pass the inspection, even with a reasonable investment in repairs. 

207. Ms. Ortega posted a notice on her front door withholding consent for City 

inspectors to enter the home. At one point a group of City personnel with a camera 

approached her home, but did not attempt to enter and inspect it. 

208. As a result of the City’s policy and actions, since February 2015 through the 

spring and summer of 2015, Ms. Ortega has suffered significant emotional distress, lack of 

sleep, and nightmares. She is worried that the City will condemn her home or close the entire 

mobile home park, and that she and her three children will be forced to go to El Salvador, 

where she was born. She and her partner, Miguel Martinez, worry that they will suffer severe 

financial problems if their home is condemned.  

209. Ms. Ortega has also suffered emotional distress from observing the fear and 

anxiety of her partner and their three children. Their children are noticeably sad and at times 
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afraid to play outside because of the presence of the inspectors. Her two older sons tell her 

that they hope the City will not close Mobile Towne. They both want to continue in their 

current schools. 

210. Every night Ms. Ortega prays that her family will not be displaced from their 

community. 

Teresa Melgar 

211. Plaintiff Teresa Melgar (“Ms. Melgar”) is a Latina woman from Guatemala who 

lives in Mobile Towne. She is a native Spanish speaker with very limited English 

proficiency. 

212. Ms. Melgar received the Mobile Towne flyer from the City in February 2015 

informing her of the upcoming inspections, the City’s requirements for passing inspection, 

and the community meeting. She attended the community meeting organized by Code 

Enforcement on February 23. 

213. Because of the requirements Code Enforcement conveyed in the flyer and at the 

meeting—for engineering reports, original-equipment-manufacturer or manufacturer 

approved parts, etc.—Ms. Melgar believed it would be almost impossible for her home to 

pass the inspection, even with a reasonable investment in repairs. 

214. Ms. Melgar posted a notice on her front door withholding consent for City 

inspectors to enter the home. The City did not attempt to inspect her home. 

215. As a result of the City’s policy and actions, since February 2015 Ms. Melgar has 

suffered significant emotional distress, fear, depression, and headaches. She is constantly 

worried that the City will condemn her home or will close the entire mobile home park. She 

is worried that she will be left homeless because she is a widow and lives alone.  
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216. Her fear of the inspections has caused her to not want to leave her home, even to 

go to work. As a result of the City’s actions, Ms. Melgar’s blood sugar levels have spiked, 

posing a health risk because she is diabetic. 

Evan Murillo-Armenta 

217. Plaintiff Evan Murillo-Armenta (“Mr. E. Murillo-Armenta”) is a Latino man of 

Mexican national origin who lives in Mobile Towne. He is a native Spanish speaker with 

very limited English proficiency. 

218. Mr. E. Murillo-Armenta received the Mobile Towne flyer from the City in 

February 2015 informing him of the upcoming inspections, the City’s requirements for 

passing inspection, and the community meeting. He attended the community meeting 

organized by Code Enforcement on February 23. 

219. Mr. E. Murillo-Armenta posted a notice on his front door withholding consent for 

City inspectors to enter the home. The City did not attempt to inspect his home. But on the 

day of inspections, he saw the inspectors and police in the park, inspecting neighbors’ homes. 

220. As a result of the City’s policy and actions, since February 2015 Mr. E. Murillo-

Armenta has suffered significant emotional distress, lack of sleep, and anxiety. He is 

constantly worried that the City will condemn his home or will close the entire mobile home 

park.  

221. Mr. E. Murillo-Armenta is especially worried because most of his family—both 

his and that of his wife—live in Mobile Towne and are all in the same situation. His mother-

in-law now cares for his youngest child, who has breathing and speech problems, and Mr. E. 

Murillo-Armenta is concerned that if he and his family have to move, they will not find 

someone to care for him during the day.  
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Victorino de la Barrera-Gaspar 

222. Plaintiff Victorino de la Barrera-Gaspar (“Mr. de la Barrera-Gaspar”) is a Latino 

man of Mexican national origin who lives in Mobile Towne. He is a native Spanish speaker 

with very limited English proficiency. 

223. Mr. de la Barrera-Gaspar received the Mobile Towne flyer from the City in 

February 2015 informing him of the upcoming inspections, the City’s requirements for 

passing inspection, and the community meeting. He attended the community meeting 

organized by Code Enforcement on February 23. 

224. Because of the requirements Code Enforcement conveyed in the flyer and at the 

meeting—for engineering reports, original-equipment-manufacturer or manufacturer 

approved parts, etc.—Mr. de la Barrera-Gaspar believed it would be almost impossible for 

his home to pass the inspection, even with a reasonable investment in repairs. 

225. Mr. de la Barrera-Gaspar posted a notice on his front door withholding consent 

for City inspectors to enter the home. The City did not attempt to inspect his home.  

226. As a result of the City’s policy and actions, since February 2015 Mr. de la 

Barrera-Gaspar has suffered significant emotional distress, difficulty concentrating, 

depression, fear of answering the door, fear of the police, and restlessness. He is worried that 

the City will condemn his home or will close the entire mobile home park. 

227. Mr. de la Barrera-Gaspar has also suffered emotional distress from observing the 

fear and anxiety of his wife, who has suffered from lack of sleep as a result of the City’s 

policy and actions. The situation has also affected his interpersonal relationships and has 

made him apprehensive to invite people over to visit. 
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Emilio Hernández-Barajas 

228. Plaintiff Emilio Hernández-Barajas (“Mr. Hernández-Barajas”) is a Latino man of 

Mexican national origin who lives in Mobile Towne. He is a native Spanish speaker with 

very limited English proficiency. 

229. Mr. Hernández-Barajas received the Mobile Towne flyer from the City in 

February 2015 informing him of the upcoming inspections, the City’s requirements for 

passing inspection, and the community meeting. He attended the community meeting 

organized by Code Enforcement on February 23. 

230. At the City meeting, Mr. Hernández-Barajas asked City officials several 

questions, including if the City would provide access to loans for the low-income residents to 

make needed repairs. 

231. Because of the requirements Code Enforcement conveyed in the flyer and at the 

meeting—for engineering reports, original-equipment-manufacturer or manufacturer 

approved parts, etc.—Mr. Hernández-Barajas believed it would be almost impossible for the 

home he lives in to pass the inspection, even with a reasonable investment in repairs. 

232. Mr. Hernández-Barajas posted a notice on his front door withholding consent for 

City inspectors to enter the home. The City did not attempt to inspect his home. But on the 

day of inspections, he saw the inspectors and police in the park, inspecting neighbors’ homes. 

233. As a result of the City’s policy and actions, since February 2015 Mr. Hernández-

Barajas has suffered significant emotional distress, lack of sleep, and anxiety. He is worried 

that the City will condemn the family’s home or will close the entire mobile home park and 

that the family will become homeless, because they cannot afford other housing. 
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234. Mr. Hernández-Barajas also suffered emotional distress from observing the fear 

and anxiety of his family members as a result of the City’s policy and actions. His young 

granddaughter, who lives with them, asks if the family is going to have to leave their home, 

and is afraid of the City inspectors when they come to the park.  

235. Mr. Hernández-Barajas’ relationships have also suffered as a result of the anxiety 

stemming from the inspections. He has been more agitated than usual, and has been arguing 

with his wife more as a result of the stress. 

Juan de Jesús-Vega and Esmeralda Castillo Quiná 

236. Plaintiffs Juan de Jesús-Vega (“Mr. de Jesús-Vega”) and Esmeralda Castillo-

Quiná (“Ms. Castillo-Quiná”) are Latinos of Guatemalan national origin who live in Mobile 

Towne. They are native Spanish speakers with very limited English proficiency. 

237. Mr. de Jesús-Vega and Ms. Castillo-Quiná received the Mobile Towne flyer from 

the City in February 2015 informing them of the upcoming inspections, the City’s 

requirements for passing inspection, and the community meeting. Mr. de Jesús-Vega 

attended the community meeting organized by Code Enforcement on February 23. 

238. Because of the requirements Code Enforcement conveyed in the flyer and at the 

meeting—for engineering reports, original-equipment-manufacturer or manufacturer 

approved parts, etc.—Mr. de Jesús-Vega and Ms. Castillo-Quiná believed it would be almost 

impossible for their home to pass the inspection, even with a reasonable investment in 

repairs. 

239. Mr. de Jesús-Vega and Ms. Castillo-Quiná posted a notice on their front door 

withholding consent for City inspectors to enter the home. The City did not attempt to inspect 

their home.  
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240. As a result of the City’s policy and actions, since February 2015 Mr. de Jesús-

Vega and Ms. Castillo-Quiná have suffered significant emotional distress. They are worried 

that the City will condemn their home or will close the entire mobile home park.  

241. Mr. de Jesús-Vega and Ms. Castillo-Quiná are worried that the City will come to 

their home with a court order and demand entrance, or that the City will take them to court if 

they cannot afford to make repairs. They wonder how they can possibly afford to install a 

central heating system, where they could live if their home was condemned, and how they 

would care for their three young children. 

Graciela Betancourth-Mejía 

242. Plaintiff Graciela Betancourth-Mejía (“Ms. Betancourth-Mejía”) is a Latina 

woman of Guatemalan national origin who lives in Mobile Towne. She is a native Spanish 

speaker with very limited English proficiency. 

243. Ms. Betancourth-Mejía received the Mobile Towne flyer from the City in 

February 2015 informing her of the upcoming inspections, the City’s requirements for 

passing inspection, and the community meeting. Her husband attended the community 

meeting organized by Code Enforcement on February 23. 

244. After the meeting, Ms. Betancourth-Mejía’s husband told her he was fearful 

because he believed the City was using unrealistic standards that they could not meet. As a 

result, Ms. Betancourth-Mejía says she felt like a bucket of cold water had been dumped on 

her. 

245. Ms. Betancourth-Mejía and her husband posted a notice on their front door 

withholding consent for City inspectors to enter the home. The City did not attempt to inspect 
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their home. But at a later date, inspectors returned to video and photograph the outside of the 

home.  

246. During the inspections in Mobile Towne, Ms. Betancourth-Mejía witnessed police 

escorts accompanying inspectors, causing her distress and fear that the City would force an 

inspection of her home.  

247. As a result of the City’s policy and actions, since February 2015 Ms. Betancourth-

Mejía has suffered significant emotional distress, lack of sleep, and headaches. She is 

worried that the City will condemn her home or will close the entire mobile home park.  

248. She has also suffered emotional distress from observing the fear and anxiety her 

husband and young daughter have experienced due to the City’s actions. Her husband has 

lost sleep and is constantly worried that the City will condemn their home, and thus impose 

intolerable costs on the family, including loss of the investment they have already made in 

their home. Her daughter has cried because she does not want to have to move and leave all 

of her friends. 

Everardo Arellano-Medina 

249. Plaintiff Everado Arellano-Medina (“Mr. Arellano-Medina”) is a Latino man of 

Mexican national origin who lives in Mobile Towne. He is a native Spanish speaker with 

very limited English proficiency. 

250. Mr. Arellano-Medina received the Mobile Towne flyer from the City in February 

2015 informing him of the upcoming inspections, the City’s requirements for passing 

inspection, and the community meeting. He attended the community meeting organized by 

Code Enforcement on February 23. 
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251. Because of the requirements Code Enforcement conveyed in the flyer and at the 

meeting—for engineering reports, original-equipment-manufacturer or manufacturer 

approved parts, etc.—and because of his knowledge of Code Enforcement’s activities at 

Rudd’s Trailer Park, Mr. Arellano-Medina believed it would be almost impossible for his 

home to pass the inspection, even with a reasonable investment in repairs. 

252. Mr. Arellano-Medina posted a notice on his front door withholding consent for 

City inspectors to enter the home. The City did not attempt to inspect his home.  

253. As a result of the City’s policy and actions, since February 2015 Mr. Arellano-

Medina has suffered significant emotional distress and lack of sleep. He is worried that the 

City will condemn his home or will close the entire mobile home park. Both he and his wife 

worry about what they will do if their home is condemned, where they will go, and how they 

will afford alternative housing. 

Jesús Murillo-Armenta 

254. Plaintiff Jesús Murillo-Armenta (“Mr. J. Murillo-Armenta”) is a Latino man of 

Mexican national origin who lives in Mobile Towne. He is a native Spanish speaker with 

limited English proficiency. 

255. Mr. J. Murillo-Armenta received the Mobile Towne flyer from the City in 

February 2015 informing him of the upcoming inspections, the City’s requirements for 

passing inspection, and the community meeting. He attended the community meeting 

organized by Code Enforcement on February 23. 

256. Because of the requirements Code Enforcement conveyed in the flyer and at the 

meeting—for engineering reports, original-equipment-manufacturer or manufacturer 
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approved parts, etc.—Mr. J. Murillo-Armenta believed it would be almost impossible for his 

home to pass the inspection, even with a reasonable investment in repairs. 

257. Mr. J. Murillo-Armenta posted a notice on his front door withholding consent for 

City inspectors to enter the home. The City did not attempt to inspect his home.  

258. As a result of the City’s policy and actions, since February 2015 Mr. J. Murillo-

Armenta has suffered significant emotional distress and anxiety. He is constantly worried 

that the City will condemn his home or will close the entire mobile home park.  

259. He and his wife have seen City inspectors and police in the park, inspecting other 

homes, which has caused them increased fear.  

260. Mr. J. Murillo-Armenta has also suffered emotional distress from observing the 

fear and anxiety of his wife and their twelve-year-old son. His wife has worried constantly 

about their future, and their son has expressed frequent worry that the city is going to take 

their home away. 

Claudia Hernández-Montoya 

261. Plaintiff Claudia Hernández-Montoya (“Ms. Hernández-Montoya”) is a Latina 

woman of Mexican national origin who lives in Mobile Towne. She is a native Spanish 

speaker with very limited English proficiency. 

262. Ms. Hernández-Montoya received the Mobile Towne flyer from the City in 

February 2015 informing her of the upcoming inspections, the City’s requirements for 

passing inspection, and the community meeting. She attended the community meeting 

organized by Code Enforcement on February 23. 

263. Ms. Hernández-Montoya posted a notice on her front door withholding consent 

for City inspectors to enter the home. The City did not attempt to inspect her home. But she 
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was aware of the inspections of neighbors’ homes, and on two occasions she saw City 

inspectors approach neighbors’ homes with a police escort.  

264. As a result of the City’s policy and actions, since February 2015 Ms. Hernández-

Montoya has suffered significant emotional distress and anxiety.  

265. She has also suffered emotional distress from observing the fear and anxiety her 

husband has experienced as a result of the City’s policy and actions. He has lost sleep and 

worries constantly that the family will become homeless if the park is closed. 

Susana Ortiz-López 

266. Plaintiff Susana Ortiz-López (“Ms. Ortiz-López”) is a Latina woman of 

Guatemalan national origin who lives in Mobile Towne. She is a native Spanish speaker with 

very limited English proficiency. 

267. Ms. Ortiz-López received the Mobile Towne flyer from the City in February 2015 

informing her of the upcoming inspections, the City’s requirements for passing inspection, 

and the community meeting.  

268. She posted a notice on her front door withholding consent for City inspectors to 

enter the home. The City did not attempt to inspect her home. 

269. As a result of the City’s policy and actions, since February 2015 Ms. Ortiz-López 

has suffered significant emotional distress. She has felt that City officials could do whatever 

they want and she and other residents are helpless. She is worried that if inspectors enter her 

home, they will require repairs that are not valid under the VMC. Both Ms. Ortiz-López and 

her husband are consistently worried about where they will go if their home is condemned. 
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Rosío Elizondo-de García 

270. Plaintiff Rosío Elizondo-de García (“Ms. Elizondo-de García”) is a Latina woman 

of Mexican national origin who lives in Mobile Towne. She is a native Spanish speaker with 

very limited English proficiency. 

271. Ms. Elizondo-de García received the Mobile Towne flyer from the City in 

February 2015 informing her of the upcoming inspections, the City’s requirements for 

passing inspection, and the community meeting. Her now-estranged husband attended the 

community meeting organized by Code Enforcement on February 23. 

272. Ms. Elizondo-de García posted a notice on her front door withholding consent for 

City inspectors to enter the home. The City did not attempt to inspect her home. But on the 

day of inspections, she saw the inspectors and police in the park, inspecting neighbors’ 

homes and walking around the park. 

273. As a result of the City’s policy and actions, since February 2015 Ms. Elizondo-de 

García has suffered significant emotional distress and anxiety. She is constantly worried that 

the City will condemn her home or will close the entire mobile home park, leaving her and 

her children homeless.  

Sonia O’Brien 

274. Plaintiff Sonia O’Brien (“Ms. O’Brien”) is a Latina woman of Salvadoran 

national origin who lives in Mobile Towne. She is a native Spanish speaker with limited 

English proficiency. 

275. Ms. O’Brien posted a notice on her front door withholding consent for City 

inspectors to enter the home. The City did not attempt to inspect her home. 
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276. As a result of the City’s policy and actions, since February 2015 Ms. O’Brien has 

suffered significant emotional distress, inability to stop crying (even at work), and difficulty 

sleeping. She is worried that the City will condemn her home or will close the entire mobile 

home park and wonders where she would go. 

Yulenny Murillo-Armenta 

277. Plaintiff Yulenny Murillo-Armenta (“Ms. Murillo-Armenta”) is a Latina woman 

of Mexican national origin who lives in Mobile Towne. She is a native Spanish speaker with 

limited English proficiency. 

278. Ms. Murillo-Armenta received the Mobile Towne flyer from the City in February 

2015 informing her of the upcoming inspections, the City’s requirements for passing 

inspection, and the community meeting. She attended the community meeting organized by 

Code Enforcement on February 23. 

279. On the day her section of Mobile Towne was inspected, Ms. Murillo-Armenta 

was not home, but her husband, Edson, was home. He told her he observed inspectors and 

police at the park inspecting their neighbors’ homes. The City did not attempt to inspect their 

home. 

280. As a result of the City’s policy and actions, since February 2015 Ms. Murillo-

Armenta has suffered significant emotional distress and anxiety. She is worried that the City 

will condemn her home because her family does not have the resources necessary to make all 

of the repairs the City will require.  

281. Ms. Murillo-Armenta also suffered emotional distress from observing the fear and 

anxiety of her family, as a result of the City’s policy and actions. Her husband has suffered 
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from inability to sleep because of worries about the situation, and their children have been 

anxious and have asked if they will have to move out of their home. 

Myrna Martínez-Salas and Fernando Piñon-Monroy  

282. Plaintiffs Myrna Martínez-Salas (“Ms. Martínez-Salas”) and Fernando Piñon-

Monroy (“Mr. Piñon-Monroy”) are Latinos of Mexican national origin who live in Mobile 

Towne. They are native Spanish speakers with very limited English proficiency. 

283. Ms. Martínez-Salas and Mr. Piñon-Monroy received the Mobile Towne flyer from 

the City in February 2015 informing them of the upcoming inspections, the City’s 

requirements for passing inspection, and the community meeting. Ms. Martínez-Salas 

attended the community meeting organized by Code Enforcement on February 23. 

284. Ms. Martínez-Salas also attended the Coalition meeting on March 1 with residents 

of Rudd’s Trailer Park. After both of those meetings, Ms. Martínez-Salas believed that the 

City did not intend to help the residents. 

285. Because of the requirements Code Enforcement conveyed in the flyer and at the 

meeting—for engineering reports, original-equipment-manufacturer or manufacturer 

approved parts, etc.—and the experiences that Rudd’s residents shared with them, Ms. 

Martínez-Salas and Mr. Piñon-Monroy believed it would be almost impossible for their home 

to pass the inspection, even with a reasonable investment in repairs. 

286. Ms Martínez-Salas and Mr. Piñon-Monroy posted a notice on their front door 

withholding consent for City inspectors to enter the home. The City did not attempt to inspect 

their home.  
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287. As a result of the City’s policy and actions, since February 2015 Ms. Martínez-

Salas and Mr. Piñon-Monroy have suffered significant emotional distress and anxiety. They 

are worried that the City will condemn their home or will close the entire mobile home park.  

288. Ms. Martínez-Salas has suffered from anxiety, fits of crying, and nervousness as a 

result of the City’s actions. She feels that the City is intimidating the community. 

289. Ms. Martínez-Salas and Mr. Piñon-Monroy have also suffered emotional distress 

from observing the fear and anxiety of their seven-year-old son, who cries when he thinks of 

the family having to move because of the City’s actions. 

V. CAUSES OF ACTION 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Violation of the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3601 et seq.) 

Against All Defendants 
On Behalf of All Plaintiffs 

290. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege the allegations in the paragraphs above as if fully set 

forth herein. 

291. Defendants’ aggressive campaign of inspections and Virginia Maintenance Code 

enforcement actions constitutes a denial of housing on the basis of race or color and/or 

national origin in violation of the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3604(a). 

292. Defendants’ unlawful actions include, inter alia, pursuing the code enforcement 

campaign against overwhelmingly Latino neighborhoods despite extensive notice that such 

actions disproportionately harm Latinos of Mexican and Central American national origin 

over groups of other race or national origin. Defendants’ policies disparately impacted 

Latinos of Mexican and Central American national origin. Furthermore, Latino families of 

Mexican and Central American national origin were treated differently than groups of other 
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race or national origin with regard to enforcement of City of Richmond rules and policies 

regarding housing.  

293. Defendants’ campaign also constitutes a deprivation of the terms, conditions, and 

privileges of sale or rental of a dwelling, or in the provision of services or facilities in 

connection therewith, on the basis of race or color and/or national origin in violation of the 

Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3604(b). 

294. Plaintiffs are aggrieved persons as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 3602(d) and (i), have 

been injured by the Defendants’ discriminatory conduct, and have suffered damages as a 

result. 

295. Defendants’ unlawful conduct was intentional, willful, and made in disregard for 

the rights of others. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION  
(Violation of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000d et seq.) 

Against All Defendants 
Alfonso Altamira-Rojas; Ojilvia Moreno-Solano; Nieves Moreno-Solano; Rufino Cano-Vasquez; 

Rosa Mejia de la Barrera; Josefina Rojas; Gerardo Rojas; Julia Tenorio; Gregoria Molina-
Calderón; Rufino Ortiz; Domitila Vitervo-Ortiz; Lubia Barrientos-Gonzalez; Mario Escobar-

Guevara; Gerardo Martinez-Fonseca; Patricia Ortega; Teresa Melgar; Evan Murillo-Armenta; 
Victorino de la Barrera-Gaspar; Emilio Hernández-Barajas; Juan de Jesús-Vega; Esmeralda 
Castillo; Graciela Betancourth-Mejia; Everardo Arellano-Medina; Jesús Murillo-Armenta; 

Claudia Hernández-Montoya; Susana Ortiz-Lopez; Rosío Elizondo-de García; Sonia O’Brien; 
Yulenny Murillo-Armenta; Myrna Martínez-Salas; and Fernando Piñon-Monroy 

296. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege the allegations in the paragraphs above as if fully set 

forth herein. 

297. Defendants’ discriminatory practices with regard to the administration of federal 

programs, including the federal CDBG and HOME programs, motivated by malice and/or 
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callous disregard for the rights of the Plaintiffs, violate the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 

U.S.C. § 2000d. 

298. Defendants knew or should have known that many of the families and individuals 

living in the mobile home parks being targeted for code enforcement were Latinos of 

Mexican and Central American national origin and that many have limited English 

proficiency. Defendants nonetheless refused to provide adequate translation and 

interpretation to inform Plaintiffs and other limited-English-proficient residents of their rights 

and responsibilities with regard to building code enforcement.   

299. Through inadequate translation and interpretation services, Defendants denied 

limited-English-proficient Plaintiffs meaningful access to critical services and programs 

related to Code Enforcement’s activities. Defendants’ failure to provide such language access 

services was intentional and motivated by Plaintiffs’ race and/or national origin, in violation 

of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000d. 

300. Furthermore, because of the Plaintiffs’ race or national origin, Defendants refused 

to administer the above-mentioned federal programs in a way that would benefit families 

living in the targeted trailer parks, despite those same programs being used to benefit other 

groups of different race or national origin in similar situations.   

301. Plaintiffs have been injured by Defendants’ discriminatory actions and have 

suffered damages as a result. 
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THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION  
(Interference, Coercion, and Intimidation in Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3617) 

Against All Defendants 
On Behalf of All Plaintiffs 

302. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege the allegations in the paragraphs above as if fully set 

forth herein. 

303. Plaintiffs are protected individuals under the Fair Housing Act and were engaged 

in activities protected by the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 3603, 3604, 3605, and/or 3606. 

a. Plaintiffs’ communications and coordination with the Mobile Home Park 

Coalition and Legal Aid Justice Center were motivated by a desire to resist the 

City’s discriminatory code enforcement campaign, which disproportionally 

targeted and impacted Latino residents of Mexican and Central American national 

origin.   

b. Plaintiffs’ actions in denying inspectors entry to into their homes without an 

inspection warrant were also motivated by a desire to resist the City’s 

discriminatory code enforcement campaign. 

304. In response, and in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3617, the Defendants threatened and 

retaliated against the Plaintiffs in the following ways.  

a. The Defendants abruptly condemned Rudd’s units 2A and 5A, even though they 

had repeatedly reassured the Plaintiffs and other residents of Rudd’s that they 

would not condemn homes whose owners were actively working to bring them 

into compliance. 

b. The day after the Coalition representing many Rudd’s residents submitted a plan 

to make repairs and avoid mass displaced, the City threatened to summarily 

condemn homes, including several which had not received the requisite notices 



67 

for condemnation and had not been cited for the types of violations the City 

claimed motivated the condemnations.  

c. At the same time, the Defendants also condemned Rudd’s unit 33B without 

warning and after having represented to LAJC that the unit was not at risk of 

condemnation until more than a week later and despite the absence of the type of 

violations the Defendants claimed they were addressing in executing the 

condemnations on September 12. 

d. After residents of Mobile Towne asserted their legal rights to refuse inspectors 

entry to their homes, police escorted inspectors during future inspections. Police 

presence during code enforcement inspections coupled with assertions by 

inspectors and the City Attorney led residents to believe that withholding consent 

for inspectors to enter their homes could lead to criminal prosecution or summary 

condemnations. The presence of armed law enforcement intimidated some 

residents into waiving their right to refuse entry. 

305. The Defendants’ subsequent activities were causally related to the Plaintiffs’ 

exercise of the protected activity.  

306. Furthermore, on account of Plaintiffs’ attempt to enjoy access to housing free 

from discrimination, rights protected by the Fair Housing Act, the Defendants coerced and 

intimidated the Plaintiffs and other residents, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3617, by having 

armed, uniformed police accompany inspectors to the homes of several of the Plaintiffs and 

other residents and/or patrol the mobile home parks while inspectors were seeking entry into 

homes to inspect. This pattern of harassment was at least partly motivated by the City’s intent 

to discriminate against Plaintiffs and their neighbors on the basis of national origin.   
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307. Plaintiffs have been injured by Defendants’ discriminatory conduct and have 

suffered damages as a result. 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION  
(Violation of Virginia Fair Housing Law, Va. Code § 36-96 et seq.) 

Against All Defendants 
On Behalf of All Plaintiffs 

308. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege the allegations in the paragraphs above as if fully set 

forth herein. 

309. Defendants engaged in unlawful discrimination housing practices against the 

Plaintiffs in violation of the Virginia Fair Housing Law, Va. Code § 36-96.3, by 

discriminating on the basis of race and/or national origin in the privileges of sale or rental of 

a dwelling. 

310. Defendants deprived Plaintiffs of the full benefit of their purchased mobile homes 

and rented lots through threat of condemnation and forced displacement. 

311. Defendants’ unlawful acts included, inter alia, engaging in an aggressive 

campaign of code enforcement against mobile home parks when the Defendants knew, or had 

reason to know, that Latinos of Mexican and Central American national origin who inhabited 

the parks would be disproportionately impacted by the enforcement campaign.    

312. By ordering armed police officers to escort city inspectors within the mobile 

home parks and threatening homeowners who denied inspectors consent to enter their homes 

with heightened enforcement, Defendants intimidated and threatened Plaintiffs due to their 

exercise of the rights granted by the Virginia Fair Housing Law in violation of Va. Code § 

36-96.5. 
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313. Plaintiffs have been injured by Defendants’ discriminatory conduct and have 

suffered damages as a result. 

VI. PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHERFORE, Plaintiffs request that this Court: 

a) Enter an order and judgment declaring the Defendants’ acts, practices, and policies 

complained of herein violated Plaintiffs’ rights as secured by the Fair Housing Act, 42 

U.S.C. § 3601 et seq; 42 U.S.C. § 3617; the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000d 

et seq; and the Virginia Fair Housing Law, Va. Code § 36-96 et seq.. 

b) Enter an order and judgment enjoining Defendants, their agents, employees, successors, 

assigns, and those acting in active concert, combination or participation with them, from 

engaging in any policies or practices the deprive Plaintiffs of their rights secured by all of 

the statutes cited in sub-paragraph (a) above, including the following: 

i. Immediately cease all proactive code enforcement activities targeting mobile 

homes, including performing inspections to identify code violations, performing 

follow-up inspections not specifically requested by the owner of the subject 

property, issuing Notices of Violation, condemning homes, and instituting civil or 

criminal proceedings based on code violations.  

ii. Order Defendants to take and/or fund affirmative steps, supervised by this Court, 

to overcome the effect of past discriminatory practices and ensure future City 

actions regarding housing conditions in mobile home parks do not violate the law.  
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COMPREHENSIVE WORK PLAN PROPOSAL 
MANUFACTURED HOME REPAIRS, RUDD’S TRAILER PARK 

 

 

Dear Sirs: 

 

This document describes a framework which the MHP Coalition (“the Coalition”) proposes to 
use in order to address the Virginia Maintenance Code violations in the manufactured homes 
whose owners we represent, located in Rudd’s Trailer Park at 2911 Jefferson Davis Highway in 
Richmond, Virginia. This proposed comprehensive work plan consists of the following elements. 

• A unit-level work process which the Coalition will use to evaluate, plan, permit, and 
repair each individual manufactured home unit 

• An overall work process by which the Coalition will manage and schedule the work  

• Templates the Coalition’s volunteer professionals will use to inspect and evaluate each 
unit when beginning the unit-level work process 

• Sorted figures of code violations indicating the overall scope of work 

• A proposed timing and sequencing plan 

• Appendix containing inspection/evaluation checklists and core team member resumes 

 

The members of the Coalition are grateful for the consideration given to our work with the 
community at Rudd’s Trailer Park and to the safety and other needs of the park’s residents. We 
look forward to working with the City to revise this proposed plan as needed, and to execute it 
to the benefit of our neighbors in Rudd’s. 

 

Sincerely, 

Bobby Nisbeth, Durwood Usry, Oswaldo Gavilan, Phil Storey 

MHP Coalition members
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UNIT-LEVEL WORK PROCESS  

1. Inspection and evaluation of unit (as required by Unsafe Structure notices and NOVs) 

a. Structural engineering (registered structural engineer; building professional) 

i. If structural deficiencies are too great to reasonably remedy, unit is 
flagged and set aside – no further immediate evaluations 

ii. If structural deficiencies are remediable, continue process with other 
necessary inspections and evaluations  

b. Electrical (master electrician) 

c. Plumbing (licensed plumbing professional) 

d. Accessory structures and debris (contractor)  

e. HVAC (contractor) 

2. Work plan 

a. Utilize evaluation surveys to draft work plan for each discipline (structural, 
electrical, plumbing, HVAC) and for miscellaneous (smoke detectors, debris 
removal, etc.) to begin permitting repairs and alterations 

b. Propose schedules for work coordinated with volunteer work crews 

3. Permitting 

a. Evaluation and work team assembles permit applications and supporting 
documents 

b. Team delivers batches of permit applications to Code Enforcement office for 
review 

c. Code Enforcement facilitates issuance of permits for maximum efficiency 

4. Material purchase and delivery 

5. Work performed 

a. Teams of volunteer professionals and labor perform required work on units 

b. Project management team keeps Code Enforcement informed about progress 
being made 

c. Any additional items identified during repairs will be noted and brought up to 
code 

6. Inspection and approval by Code Enforcement 
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OVERALL WORK PROCESS  

1. Preliminary structural engineering evaluation of all units with Unsafe Structure notices 
based on structural alterations 

a. Triage to categorize units by structural needs: moderate, substantial, or severe 

2. Prioritize units for going through work process, based on structural needs, electrical and 
other needs, matching needs to volunteer and financial resources, residents’ immediate 
ability to contribute labor and money, and other factors 

3. Recruit and assign work teams 

4. Begin unit-level work process on first set of 10 units 

TEMPLATES FOR INSPECTION AND EVALUATION 

The professionals performing each category of inspection and evaluation required (structural, 
electrical, plumbing, accessory structures, and HVAC), will use a common set of checklists and 
worksheets to ensure consistency and thoroughness. Samples or drafts of these checklists are 
included in the appendix to this proposal. 

GENERAL SCOPE OF WORK 

The following numbers represent total violations identified from the NOVs and Unsafe Structure notices 
(minus units that are condemned and permanently vacated). We are still in the process of contacting 
each resident with a code violation to offer to represent them. We expect to complete that process very 
soon, and at that time we will provide the Code Enforcement office with lists of violations specific to the 
residents who have signed representation agreements with us. 

Unsafe Structure violations, by type: 

Structural 49 

Heating 38 

Electrical 32 

Gas 7 

Plumbing 7 

Size, lighting, sanitation 5 

Water heater 5 

Porch/deck 3 

Sewer 2 

Unfit (unspecified) 2 

Electrical service 1 

Lock on door 1 
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Specific violations from NOVs, by code provision: 

304.13 Windows and doors 50 

302.7 Accessory structure (shed, 
porch) 

44 

304.10 Porch / stairs (accessory) 45 

604.3 Electrical system 36 

602.2 Heating 33 

304.15 Exterior doors 31 

304.1P Exterior proactive 31 

304.1 Exterior maintenance 28 

304.6 Exterior walls 21 

306.1 Handrails on steps 16 

304.12 Exterior rails 16 

305.2 Structural members 12 

304.13.1 Windows 13 

304.2 Exterior surfaces 11 

304.7 Roof and gutters 10 

702.4 Emergency escape (back 
door) 

12 

305.4 Interior floors / walls (and 
some back steps) 

9 

304.4 Structural (general) 7 

702.1 Egress (back steps) 7 

704.2 Smoke detectors 7 

305.3 Interior surfaces 6 

603.1 Mechanical systems 6 

504.3 Plumbing 4 

304.5 Skirting 3 

305.1 Interior structure 3 

305.6 Interior doors 3 

305.5 Interior handrails 2 

504.1 Plumbing 2 

506.1 Plumbing 2 

604.2 Electrical utility service 1 

303.2 Gates 1 

304.3 Street numbers 1 

307.1 Trash 1 

403.2 Plumbing 1 

503.4 Bathroom floors 1 

505.1 Water supply (plumbing) 1 

505.2 Plumbing 1 

505.4 Water heater 1 

704.3 Smoke detectors 1 

404.4.2 Access to sleeping quarters 1 

404.4.4 Non-habitable room 1 
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TIMING AND SEQUENCING 

Estimated timing for first 10 homes, start to finish. (Initial work on subsequent units to begin 
while later tasks are underway on first 10, etc.) 

Phase Start Date Days Notes 
1. Cleanup 1-Sep 17 Ongoing during all repairs 
2. Inspections 25-Sep 15 Structural, electrical, plumbing, accessory structures, HVAC 
3. Structural 16-Oct 20 These repairs will have to be evaluated prior to the start of other 

phases 
4. HVAC 23-Oct 18 Structural repairs may have to be completed prior to this 

installation; Electrical will have to be upgraded prior to 
installation 

5. Electrical 23-Oct 20 This phase can happen in areas where structural repair in not 
necessary 

6. Plumbing 1-Nov 21 This phase will happen during structural repairs 
7. Additions 1-Dec 12 Removal of porch, and decks; Construction of steps 

 

(Gantt chart from table above.) 
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APPENDIX
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Rudd’s Manufactured Home Repair Survey – ELECTRICAL 
Lot #:   Date:   Inspected by:   

Violations on NOV:   

    

 OK/No or Value Notes 

OUTDOOR 

Receptacles   

Light fixtures   

LIVING ROOM 

Receptacles   

Light fixtures   

Switches   

KITCHEN 

Receptacles   

Light fixtures   

Switches   

Range receptacles   

Refrigerator receptacle   

BEDROOM #1 

Receptacles    

Light fixtures   

Switches   

BEDROOM #2 

Receptacles   

Light fixtures   

switches   
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BEDROOM #3 

Receptacles   

Light  fixtures   

Switches   

HALL 

Receptacle   

Light fixture   

Switches   

BATHROOM 

Receptacles   

Light fixtures   

Switches   

ELECTRICAL PANEL BOX 

Capacity in amps   

Number of circuits   

Exposed    

Recessed   

Surface mounted   

ELECTRICAL OUTDOOR PEDESTAL 

Capacity in amps connected 
to trailer 

  

Plug and cord   

Hard pipe/wire to pedestal   

Breaker size   

Other wires connected   

ADDITIONAL NOTES: 

 

 

 
 



COMPREHENSIVE WORK PLAN PROPOSAL  8 
MANUFACTURED HOME REPAIRS, RUDD’S TRAILER PARK 

Rudd’s Manufactured Home Repair Survey – STRUCTURAL 
Lot #:   Date:   Inspected by:   

Manufacturer:    Year built:     Dimensions:   x   

Violations on NOV:   

    

 
OK or 
Repair/Replace Notes 

EXTERIOR 

Siding (type:  )   

Roof (type:  )   

Front Porch   

Landing   

Steps   

Railings   

Back Porch/Stoop   

Landing   

Steps   

Railings   

Exterior Doors   

Front (size: ___ x ___ )   

Back (size: ___ x ___ )   

Storm Doors   

Front (size: ___ x ___ )   

Back (size: ___ x ___ )   
 
 BACK SIDE 

FRONT SIDE 

BA
CK

 E
N

D
 



COMPREHENSIVE WORK PLAN PROPOSAL  9 
MANUFACTURED HOME REPAIRS, RUDD’S TRAILER PARK 

 

EXTERIOR (cont.) 

Windows (#, sizes, locations)   

Front Side   

Back Side   

Hitch End   

Back End   

INTERIOR 

Kitchen   

Walls    

Ceiling   

Floor   

Bedroom #1    

Walls    

Ceiling   

Floor   

Bedroom #2    

Walls    

Ceiling   

Floor   

Bedroom #3    

Walls    

Ceiling   

Floor   

Living Room   

Walls    

Ceiling   

Floor   
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MANUFACTURED HOME REPAIRS, RUDD’S TRAILER PARK 

 

Dining Room   

Walls    

Ceiling   

Floor   

Other Room(s)   

Walls    

Ceiling   

Floor   

Bathroom   

Walls    

Ceiling   

Floor   

Fixtures   
 
 

ADDITIONAL NOTES: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 



COMPREHENSIVE WORK PLAN PROPOSAL  11 
MANUFACTURED HOME REPAIRS, RUDD’S TRAILER PARK 

Rudd’s Manufactured Home Repair Survey – HVAC 
Lot #:   Date:   Inspected by:   

Manufacturer:    Year built:     Dimensions:   x   

 

 
OK or 
Repair/Replace Notes 

EXISTING FURNACE 

Is existing furnace working? 
(If no, what is the condition 
of the unit components 
below)          

  

Oil tank   

Oil line   

Filter   

Burner   

Fire Box   

Heat Exchanger   

Flue   

Control Wiring / Tstat   

Relay   

Power Feed / Wiring   

Blower   

Cabinet   

Clearances   

Duct System   

What would be necessary to 
make existing system work? 

  



COMPREHENSIVE WORK PLAN PROPOSAL  12 
MANUFACTURED HOME REPAIRS, RUDD’S TRAILER PARK 

 

NEW HEATING UNIT 

Owner willing to cover some 
or all cost for new unit? 

  

What is the width of home?   

What is the length of home?   

Total Sq Ft:   

Insulation value:   

Is there extra space in the panel for a 240V 20A 
plug for a window unit? 

 

What other whole home heating options are 
available without using baseboard heat strip? 

 

 
 

ADDITIONAL NOTES: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



COMPREHENSIVE WORK PLAN PROPOSAL  13 
MANUFACTURED HOME REPAIRS, RUDD’S TRAILER PARK 

 

Rudd’s Manufactured Home Repair Survey – PLUMBING 
Lot #:   Date:   Inspected by:   

Violations on NOV:   

    

 
OK or 
Repair/Replace Notes 

INSIDE 

Kitchen   

Faucet    

Faucet Drain   

Dishwasher   

Bathroom   

Vanity    

Toilet   

Shower/Bathtub   

OUTSIDE 

Underhouse Water Supply   

Underhouse Sewer Lines   

Other Issues   
 
 

ADDITIONAL NOTES: 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 



ROBERT  NISBETH  
1228  Southam  Drive  
Richmond,  VA  23235  
(804)  833-‐1136    
robertnisbeth@gmail.com  !
CAREER OBJECTIVE/WORK HISTORY
I enjoy teamwork, finding unseen project needs and solving them, developing successful schedules, budgets, 
and completions, and following through with effective installations. !
o (2014)  Atlantic Heating & Cooling [Project Manager]  Richmond, VA   [Various Projects] 

o       Operating a commercial projects business unit start up with executive management. 
Bidding and estimation, setting up business unit operations, budget, and supply chain, hiring 
workforce, creating workflow and performance specifications, managing multiple projects, 
oversight of all field operation and business unit focus.!

o (2012 - 2013)  Freelance  [Project Manager]  Richmond, VA/Sugar Grove, WV  [P-205 ESC Project (for 
Navfac)]

o Managed BAS field installation, construction team coordination with upline customers 
and other sub’s, assisted wiring installation, BAS system start up/commissioning, TAB 
coordination, provided solutions to design problems.

 
o (2011)  Bell BCI  [Assistant Project Manager]  Rochester, NY and Clarksburg, WV  [BTC Project (for DOJ)]

o Set up project server organization and documentation, performed submittal approval 
process, assisted buyouts with Purchasing - payroll entry/reports - pay applications, identified 
project variances missed in bid for PM/Purchasing to plan budget and performance adjustments, 
coordinated deliveries into secured project site, worked with onsite facilities reps for modification 
to existing building controllability prior to heating shutdown. !

o (2010 - 2011)  Bell BCI  [Assistant Project Manager]  Syracuse, NY  [VAMC Project (for Dept of VA)]
o Assisted with submittal approval process from field engineer/PM, worked with vendors / 

manufacturers reps / manufacturers and subcontractors to compile specification qualified 
submittal documents, organized server file storage, assisted mechanical superintendent and other 
contractors with data from approved or acceptable submittals to plan work flow and installations. !

o (2008 - 2010)  Bell BCI  [Assistant Project Manager]  Aberdeen, MD  [C4ISR Project (for USACE)]
o Assisted 2 PM’s and Sr. PM reviewing nine building drawings, submittals, and purchase 

orders - performed material re-take offs and releases with fast track scheduling, coordinated with 
electrical, controls, fire, TAB, and building trades for equipment  install info, created project PFPT’s, 
supervised pre-commissioning check out crew, worked with vendors in resolving spec required 
reports, equipment start ups, warranty repairs - assisted compilation of the IOM manuals, 
coordinated and performed owner training on building mechanical and plumbing systems with 
manufacturers agents, performed commissioning requirements with CxA and Cx team. !

o (2007 - 2008)  Atlas Comfort Systems  [Project Manager]  Washington, DC SE  [70 I St Project (for JPI)]
o Management of a 12 story apartment tower, specification/contract review, assisted and 

directed Purchasing with buyouts for project savings, coordination of installation with 
superintendents/upline customers/other sub’s for project savings, estimate revision and budget 
adjustments for projected cost to complete, enacted team training and pre installation 
troubleshooting for preventing quality errors. !

o (2001 - 2006)  Mechanical Services  [Owner/Project Manager]  Richmond, VA  [Multiple (for various)]
o Bidding and negotiation with general contractors, subcontractors, and suppliers, labor 

scheduling, managing all hvac, plumbing, piping, insulation, rigging and crane work, and supply 
logistics for multiple projects, specification compliance, documentation and financial reviews with 
acceptance for final payments. !

!  | P a g e1
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o (2001 - 2001)  Virtexco  [Project Superintendent] Richmond, VA  [Meadowbrook HS Project (for 
Chesterfield Co)]

o Supervision of 30 fitters, welders, and laborers. Salvaging a project from 4 months 
behind in 2 phases to several weeks in 3 phases within two months, coordinating steel/copper 
piping in 11 building sections - materials logistics to/from laydown/into building - piping 
specialties (valves, strainers, balance ports, pumps, vents, drains, flow controls, separators, 3 way 
valves) roof top air handling units, refrigeration condensers and evaporators ( crane mounted ) – 
individually tagged/personally located, hazardous material handling, daily inspections/safety 
reviews, working liability/coordination issues out with GC/sub’s, repaired damaged project 
relationships.!

o (1997 - 1999)  Old Dominion Mechanical  [Hvac Piping Foreman]  Richmond, VA  [Lucy Corr/VMFA (for 
various)]

o Installation of RTUs, AHUs, and VAVs including setting equipment, main building piping, 
coil piping with specialties, coordination of controls contractor provided valves and sensors, project 
punch list. !!!!!

EDUCATION/CERTIFICATIONS/SOFTWARE!
• 1987 - 1989 Chesterfield Technical Center - Plumbing & Pipefitting (Trade School Option at Monacan)
• 1990 - Monacan High School – Diploma
• 1992 - 1993 - Richmond Technical Center - Plumbing Code - Gas Code
• 1994 - DPOR Certified Journeyman Plumber / Gasfitter
• 1994 - J Sergeant Reynolds - Backflow Prevention & Cross Connection Certificate
• 2000 - City of Norfolk - BFP Tester Certification
• 2001 - DPOR Certified Master Plumber / Master Gasfitter 
• 2002 - City of Norfolk - BFP Tester Certification Renewal
• 2003 - REPA - CFC / EPA Universal Certification
• 2003 - Patterson Kelly Equipment - P-K Thermific Service Training
• 2004 - RE Michel – Gas 1, Oil 1, HP 1 Certificates
• 2004 - Richmond Technical Center - HVAC/R 1st year 
• 2007 - OSHA 10 Certification
• 2008 - 2010 - Sunbelt/United Rentals - Forklift, Skidsteer, Mini Excavator, Scissor Lift Safety Training
• 2011 - Army Corp of Engineers - QA/QC for Contractors Training Certificate
• 2011 - AHA First Aid, CPR, AED Training
• 2012 - Richmond Technical Center - HVAC/R 2nd year !
• Microsoft: Word, Excel, Outlook, Project, Visio
• Peachtree Accounting
• QuickBooks Accounting
• Primavera: Suretrak!!
REFERENCES!
Available upon request.
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Charles R. Field, P.E. 
Partner 

Education 

B.S., 1985, Civil Engineering, Virginia Tech, Blacksburg, Virginia 

Professional Registration 

Professional Engineer - Virginia, 1991 

Mr. Field is lead design engineer and provides technical evaluation and management of civil site 
design projects involving all aspects of development, design, permitting and construction. Mr. 
Field also has extensive experience with municipal and development projects involving earthwork 
and grading, road construction, erosion and sediment control, hydrology and hydraulics, and 
related civil engineering technology. 

Civil Engineering/Development 

AASF Airport Runway Repairs, Sandston Virginia, Department of Military Affairs. Helicopter 
runway, taxiway and landing pads were failing. Concrete landing pads, with insufficient expansion 
joints, were causing the surrounding asphalt to heave as much a six inches. An epoxy/sand 
coating on one of the land pads was delaminating and creating a foreign object hazard. Portions 
of the runway had failed due to an inadequate subgrade. The joints in the concrete taxiway were 
deteriorating and creating a foreign object hazard. Preformed a geotechnical investigation and 
developed the plans, specifications and an estimate to correct the failures. Managed the 
construction of the project. Supervised testing and inspection, review shop drawing submittals 
and coordinated construction activities. The project was completed on time and within budget.  

Colonial Square Apartments, King William County, Virginia, Prepare site plans, water distribution 
plans, an engineered septic system and the architectural plans for a thirty-six unit apartment 
complex. 

Currioman Manor Subdivision, Westmoreland County, Virginia, Prepare site plans, water 
distribution plans, an engineered septic system for a fifty-one house subdivision.. 

Habitat for Humanity, Arlington, Virginia. Pro Bona civil engineering work to site and build homes 
for the working poor. 

Misc. Engineering 

Prepared plumbing plans in compliance with the IPC 2006 for 1000 Porter Street Apartments, 
Forest Hill Deli, Hibatchi Express, Mechanicsville Turnpike Subway, Airport Road Subway, 
Kensington Avenue Apartments, Carrington street Apartments, 1001 North 25th Street 
Apartments.    

Prepared fire alarm plans in compliance with NFPA 2007 for Old Stone Row Apartments,  1100 
Hull Street Apartments, 1425 East Cary Street Apartments, 410 Hancock Street Apartments, 408 
North 3rd Street Apartments, Trolley Lane Apartments  



Structural Engineering 

Prepared numerous plans for historical renovations and for new construction in Richmond 
historical districts. Designed five annual “Golden Hammer Award” winning projects.  

Environmental Engineering 

Prince Edward Industrial Park, Prince Edward, Virginia. Prepared wastewater treatment plant 
operations manual, for submittal to the Department of Health and the State Water Control Board. 
The plan was approved without comments or revisions. 

Branson Cove, Westmoreland County, Prepared water distribution system for sixty-eight new 
homes. The system included two new groundwater withdrawal wells, pneumatic pressure tank, 
the associated control valves and connections. 

Safety Kleen Corporation, Chesterfield, Virginia. Lead engineer for the design of the site plan for 
hazardous waste storage facility. Designed and coordinated the water, sewer, and fire control 
systems. Negotiated with the Virginia Department of Transportation for the construction and 
execution of erosion and sediment control measures at the site at no cost to Safety Kleen. 

Grummon Emergency Vehicle Plant, Roanoke, Virginia. Project engineer for the design of a 
landfill gas remediation plan for the Virginia Department of Waste Management. Conducted field 
studies required to determine the location, source, and concentration of the landfill gas and 
designed remedial gas collection system. 

Big Bethel Landfill, Sanifill Corporation, Hampton Virginia. Project Manager and Lead design 
engineer on design and permit of a 300 plus acre, 60 million cubic yard sanitary landfill. The 
design effort included a complete composite base liner and leachate collection system design, 
final cover design, underdrain system design with blower and flame station, project specification, 
plan drawings, operations manual, CQA manual, E & S manuals. Despite the challenging nature 
of the site, Sanifill needed the permit submitted to the state in just ten weeks. Rust E & I was able 
to complete the landfill design in the required time frame. The permit was submitted to the VDEQ 
in February of 1994. The landfill design was reviewed by the VDEQ and given the Completeness 
Review approval in less than two weeks and without any revisions or comments. 

Construction 

Kanawha Trace Park, Richmond City. Superintendent for the construction of the historical park. 
Coordinated with the officials and landscape architect to construct park facilities and bridge at the 
Kanawha Trace Canal. Developed and executed grading plan for handicap access. Supervised 
the construction of the bridge, allowing access to the boat locks and the pump station. 

First Congregational Christian Church, Chesterfield, Virginia. Superintendent for the construction 
involving the clearing and grading of the site, and construction of building and ancillary 
components. Performed all site work related surveying. Completed project ahead of schedule 
despite severe inclement weather. 

Caroline County Bus Barn, Caroline County. Superintendent of the construction. Coordinated with 
the county officials and the architect to construct parking and garage facilities. Supervised the 
clearing and grading of the 5-acre parking area. Supervised the construction of the slab on grade 
metal building. 

AMF Bowling Alley, Williamsburg, Virginia. Superintendent involved in surveying, site grading, 
foundation concrete, landscaping, and erosion control. Developed site, prepare subgrade and 
poured concrete slab to the exacting standards required for bowling lanes. 
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J. DURWOOD USRY  
P.O. Box 15187 Richmond, VA  23227 

durwood@usryinc.com 
 

A life long Richmond resident committed to the health and well-being of  
all of the residents and businesses in the Metropolitan area 

 
Professional Experience 
 
 After graduating from the University of Richmond, I took over the reigns of  

Usry Inc., a family owned business established in 1935.  I had oversight of a 
diverse group of 106 employees.  The company serviced families within the State 
of Virginia who chose the mobile home (manufactured home) as their primary 
residence.  I was instrumental in computerizing the business in the early 80’s, and 
setting up new accounting reports and systems along with a comprehensive job 
cost system. The company serviced the mobile home industry for over 50 years.  
It still supplies mobile and modular offices to Virginia businesses and schools. 
 
Other areas of business interest include: 
 

• Providing mobile dental labs to the State of VA for use in rural Virginia 
• Provide mobile and modular offices to all areas of business, government, 

and educational facilities - current 
• Provided housing for mobile home residents in its Mobile Home Park 
• Designed/built and integrated passive solar modular housing into the local 

community as a result of a co-operative 6 year agreement with the Dept. of 
Energy in 1979 

• Developed and built a model barrier-free home for a local Vietnam 
Veteran – 1976.  Built several more after involvement with the National 
Disabled Expo in Chicago. 

• Worked with the Mayor’s committee to introduce barrier free access 
throughout the City of Richmond – early 70’s. 

• Designed and built over 300 single family homes for 1st time homebuyers 
in the Caroline, Spottsylvania area. 

 
Community Engagement: 
 
It has always been important to become active and engaged in any organization. 
 

• Virginia Manufactured Housing Association – Board member involved 
in bringing about change in taxation of mobile homes (the “fair share 
argument”), introduction of the HUD code, fair zoning regulations, State 
of Virginia Housing board through DMV, extended financing for 
manufactured homes, and a lobbyist for 7 years initiating fair housing 
practices. 
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• Virginia Museum of Natural History -  Served as Foundation President, 
promoting the museums programs throughout the State of Virginia. 

 
• James River Association -  Member and Active Volunteer, helping to 

promote the recreational, ecological and economical importance of the 
James River and its tributaries to the City of Richmond and other 
communities. 

 
• Holy Comforter Episcopal Church – Past Vestry member and Treasurer 
 
• Rotary Club of Richmond -  Member since 1987.  Past President. 

 
• Beta Beta Foundation -  Board member and Treasurer; Formed in 2006 

to support our Kappa Sigma Fraternity Organization at the University of 
Richmond 

 
• UBS Business Advisory Board -   Board member for 7 years 

 
• Fishing Bay Yacht Club:  Active member and avid sailor  

 
• University of Richmond – Graduate and committed Spider fan 



OSWALDO GAVILAN 
12214 Swift Crossing Pl., Midlothian, Va. 23112 

804-405-3846  |  ogavilan1@verizon.net 
 

EDUCATIONAL AND TECHNICAL SUMMARY 

• Tech Certificate for Generac generators, 2013 
• Certificate in field service of Briggs-Stratton Generators, 2012 
• Master Electrician License, 2009 
• Licensed Virginia Class B Electrical Contractor, 2004 
• Richmond technical Center – Electrical apprenticeship, program leading to journeyman 

license, 1987 
• SENA  (Technical School) Colombia – 2-yr Mechanical Maintenance program 

certificate, 1976 
• SENA (Technical School) Bogota, Colombia – 3-yr Electrical program certificate, 1974 

 
PROFESSIONAL WORK EXPERIENCE 

Owner, A+ Contractors, LLC, 12214 Swift Crossing Pl., Midlothian, Va. (2004–present) 
Installations and electrical service for residential and commercial establishments to include 
emergency power systems. 
 
Ace Electric Co., 5606 Greendale Rd., Richmond Va. (1985–1997; 2009–present) 
Project field worker and project superintendent for commercial and residential electrical work for 
commercial buildings and Smart Homes. 

• Scheduling subcontractors, inspections, and materials delivery 
• Conducting owner walk-throughs for rough-ins and final electrical work 
• Job assessments  and work and material estimates  
• Troubleshooting and risk assessment. 
• Conducting quality control internal inspections  
• Demonstrating a solid understanding of the actual National Electrical Code   
• Working in cooperation with utility departments. 
• Management of project personnel.  

  
IBEW Local 666, Richmond Va. (1997–2004) 
Industrial and commercial work assignments in Central and Northern Va., Washington DC, 
Maryland, New Jersey and New York. 

• Philip Morris, Water treatment plant, Capital One, and Anheuser Busch – Central 
Virginia 

• IBM, Quantico, phone company, computer centers, corporate buildings – Northern 
Virginia and DC 

• Chase Manhattan Bank building, Hyatt Hotel – New Jersey 
• JFK airport terminal 4, Hilton Hotel, Waldorf Astoria Hotel, Ethanol plant – New York 

 
GN Enterprises Inc., 35 Birchwood Dr. South, Valley Stream, NY (1981–1983) 
Electrical installations of HVAC units – commercial. 

mailto:ogavilan1@verizon.net
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From: Walsh, John G. - PDR
To: Phil Storey
Cc: Murrow, Douglas H. - PDR; Bobby Nisbeth; durwood@usryinc.com; crfield@obsidian.pro;

ogavilan1@verizon.net; g.harris@betterhousingcoalition.org; Chapman, Peter H. - DCAO;
mary_wickham@shcrichmond.org; Bridgman, Mark S. - PDR

Subject: RE: Rudd"s work plan
Date: Thursday, September 11, 2014 3:23:50 PM
Attachments: image001.png

image002.png

Phil,
 
I am in receipt of your work plan and while I have not completely
immersed myself in it yet, the first read would indicate that many of
the elements we are looking for are present.  As with all major
plans, there may be some fine tuning to do, but I do commend your
group on the work done to date.
 
One of the elements that we talked about was legal representation. 
To that end, I need to ask you where you are in the process of having
yourself or the coalition appointed agents for the trailer owners.  I
ask this question in the context of the next round of condemnations.
 
The following trailers are ready for condemnation, in fact, this is the
list that I told you at the evening meeting we were ready to move
on.  We have been holding off on this round, but it is simply time to
move on these.  As an extension of our agreement we will hold of
condemnations on any trailer where you have signed legal
representation papers for, while still moving on the others.  The
address list is:
 
3A     3B
8A     8B
11A  13B
34A  14B
43A  16B
51A  17B
53A  18B
58A  20B
60A  22B
61A  23B

mailto:John.Walsh@Richmondgov.com
mailto:phil@justice4all.org
mailto:Douglas.Murrow@Richmondgov.com
mailto:robertnisbeth@gmail.com
mailto:durwood@usryinc.com
mailto:crfield@obsidian.pro
mailto:ogavilan1@verizon.net
mailto:g.harris@betterhousingcoalition.org
mailto:Peter.Chapman@Richmondgov.com
mailto:mary_wickham@shcrichmond.org
mailto:Mark.Bridgman@richmondgov.com




62A  24B
62A  26B
63A  27B
64A
 
Also, so that you can plan ahead the following will come due in
about 10 to 14 days.
 
32B
33B
34B
35B
36B
39B
40B
41B
42B
 
These are all structural related issues and do not include the ones
that will become unsafe on October 15th for lack of heating facilities.
 
If you represent the owners of any of these trailers, we need to have
that verification in hand by no later than 9am tomorrow.
 
John G. Walsh, CBMO
Code Enforcement Operations Manager

City of Richmond
Planning and Development Review
Bureau of Permits and Inspections
900 East Broad Street, Room G12
Richmond, Virginia 23219
804.646.6398  -  Office
804.646.0620 - Desk
Fax 804.646.0798
john.walsh@richmondgov.com
www.richmondgov.com

mailto:john.walsh@richmondgov.com
http://www.richmondgov.com/


2nd Vice President for VBCOA
 
From: Phil Storey [mailto:phil@justice4all.org] 
Sent: Wednesday, September 10, 2014 3:21 PM
To: Walsh, John G. - PDR
Cc: Murrow, Douglas H. - PDR; Bobby Nisbeth; Durwood Usry (durwood@usryinc.com); Charles Field
(crfield@obsidian.pro); Oswaldo Gavilan (ogavilan1@verizon.net); g.harris@betterhousingcoalition.org;
Chapman, Peter H. - DCAO; mary_wickham@shcrichmond.org
Subject: Rudd's work plan
 
John,
 
Attached is the Comprehensive Work Plan Proposal for the manufactured homes in Rudd’s Trailer
Park. We look forward to discussing it with you soon, and to getting started on the work. (Actually,
as you know the work started a few weeks ago, but not following the specifics of this plan’s outline.)
 
As of today, around 40 heads of household have signed representation agreements with us. Only a
couple have rejected our offer of representation and we will continue canvassing the park to speak
with each of the remaining residents with violations. We expect to complete that process by early
next week and get you the complete list of who we represent.
 
Thank you,
 
Phil
 
+ + +
Phil Storey
Attorney
Legal Aid Justice Center
123 East Broad St., Richmond, VA 23219
Tel. 804-521-7306 / Cell 434-284-0872 / Fax 804-643-2059
phil@justice4all.org
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  Background 

DESCRIPTION

Rudd’s Trailer Park is a manufactured home community located at 2911 

Jefferson Davis Highway, bordered by Lumkin Avenue on the north and 

Terminal Avenue on the south. Its approximately 10 acres are zoned  

R-MH. It is occupied by just over 100 manufactured homes, most dating 

from the 1960s. Almost all of the homes are owner-occupied. 

HISTORY 

According to its owners, Rudd’s has been held by the same family since 

the 1930s, and has been in use as a trailer park and manufactured home 

community since before World War II. It shows up in the City’s zoning 

records beginning in 1943. It has been zoned R-MH since 1979, three 

years after that zoning designation was created. 

It appears that the condition of Rudd’s and its homes has been declining 

for a number of years. Before this year, the most recent code 

enforcement push in Rudd’s seems to have been in 2008. In June 2012, 

a house fire destroyed two adjacent manufactured homes in Rudd’s.  

Early this year, the City’s building inspectors returned to the park and 

inspected all of the homes there. They found many code violations and 

issued Notices of Violation for most of the homes and for the park itself. 

  

Aerial photo of Rudd’s Trailer Park, 

1950s (above). Plat of Rudd’s Trailer 

Park, 2004 (below). 
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  Today at Rudd’s 

PROBLEMS

Rudd’s and its residents face many difficult problems. 

Neglect by park ownership. The owner of the park has neglected basic 

maintenance, apparently for decades. As a result, the park looks run 

down and the owner must now invest in the infrastructure or the  park 

will likely close. So far the owner has shown little interest in investing in 

the future of the park. 

Maintenance of individual manufactured homes. The homes in Rudd’s 

are old, and city inspectors have identified many code violations in 

almost all of them, including life safety issues. 

Lack of resources. Because of the rental income, we assume that the 

park owner has the resources to make the needed infrastructure 

repairs. Most of the residents have very low incomes and are probably 

not in a position to pay for needed repairs in a reasonable amount of 

time. 

STRENGTHS 

But the Rudd’s community has many advantages that other affordable 

housing options do not offer. 

Affordability. The residents at Rudd’s currently pay $430 a month in lot 

rental. That is already high compared to other parks, but far less than 

one would pay to rent a house or a comparably sized apartment. Many 

of the families at Rudd’s made a decision to purchase their homes so 

they could have affordable monthly rent payments. 

Community ties. Many of the residents of Rudd’s have extended family 

and close friends that also live in the park. They rely on each other for 

things like free cooperative childcare, emergency transportation and 

childcare, and help with basic needs. Also, because the residents own 

their homes instead of renting them, they look out for the well -being of 
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the community as homeowners tend to do. (Renters tend to just move 

out if their community becomes unsafe or run-down, leading to a 

downward spiral.) 

Healthy resources. The park has safe, grassy areas for children to play 

and exercise. And Rudd’s is directly across the street from Big Apple, a 

supermarket with a full-size fresh produce section and other healthy, 

fresh foods. It is an oasis in a virtual fresh food desert. Low-rent 

apartment complexes in Southside Richmond are far away from fresh 

food options, which increases health problems like childhood obesity, 

diabetes, anemia, and poor prenatal and neonatal health. 

COSTS OF MASS DISPLACEMENT

If the homes in Rudd’s are condemned, nearly 100 families will be 

displaced.  

Overburdened safety net. The system of services for the homeless and 

homelessness prevention is already far beyond capacity. It cannot serve 

these additional families. DSS services are also likely to be stressed by 

increased family needs. 

Educational costs. The mass displacement of these families, most of 

which have school-age children, would put an unwelcome stress on 

Richmond Public Schools. Under the McKinney-Vento Act, the schools 

have the responsibility to identify and serve homeless and displaced 

children. Additionally, the loss of family stability negatively affects 

children’s learning and social development. 

Family insecurity. Most of the residents of Rudd’s are barely hanging 

on. They have invested by purchasing their manufactured homes in 

order to have lower monthly costs. They have built support networks 

among family and friends within the park. If they lose their investments, 

their low-cost housing, and their support networks, they are effectively 

kicked off the bottom rung of the economic ladder.  
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  A Community-Based Response 

THE MOBILE HOME PARK COALITION

In response to the crisis facing the Rudd’s community, many local non-

profit organizations have come together to find solutions that would 

address the life safety and code concerns of the City while keeping the 

families in their homes and the community intact. Coalition members 

and other volunteers have been engaging with the residents of Rudd’s, 

with the park’s owner, and with the City’s code enforcement office to 

achieve a positive outcome.  

Members of the coalition include:  

 Social service providers 
o Commonwealth Catholic Charities 
o Sacred Heart Center 

 Churches  
o First Baptist Church 
o Sacred Heart Cathedral 
o Sacred Heart Church 

 Legal service providers  
o Housing Opportunities Made Equal (HOME) 
o Legal Aid Justice Center 
o Virginia Poverty Law Center 

 Community development corporations  
o Better Housing Coalition 
o Habitat for Humanity 
o Project:HOMES 
o Rebuilding Together Richmond 
o Southside Community Development and Housing 

Corporation 

 Other non-profits 
o Homeward 
o Virginia Hispanic Chamber of Commerce 
o Virginia Housing Coalition  
o Virginia Organizing 

 

The Coalition has recruited on-the-ground help from many volunteers, 

including members of the Cathedral of the Sacred Heart Social Justice 

Committee, the Knights of Columbus, First Baptist Church, Sacred Heart 

Church, and Phi Gamma Delta Fraternity (FIJI) at VCU. We are also being 

assisted by legal teams from Firms in Service, a collaboration of many of 
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the large commercial law firms in Richmond. And, of course, the 

residents of Rudd’s are contributing to the work.  

Together, the Coalition and its volunteers offer a wealth of expertise 

and capacity to accomplish this very challenging work. We have already 

spent thousands of hours helping Rudd’s residents, making repairs, 

cleaning up lots, and coming up with a viable plan for the future.  

COMPREHENSIVE WORK PLAN

The Coalition submitted a Comprehensive Work Plan Proposal to the 

City’s code enforcement office on September 10, outlining how we plan 

to systematically address the code violations over the coming months. 

The proposal was prepared by our core work team that includes a 

master electrician, a structural engineer, a contractor and plumber, and 

a manufacturer of mobile homes. We have begun to execute the plan. 

IMMEDIATE NEEDS 

To complete the planned repairs and stabilize the Rudd’s community, 

the Coalition needs help, from both city hall and the wider community.  

Cooperation from the City. Without strong, committed cooperation 

from the City, we cannot succeed. The code enforcement office has 

been generally supportive of our efforts lately, and we need that 

cooperation to continue.  

Financial support. We believe that the financial resources needed to 

carry out this plan are less than the costs of failure. The City will be 

stuck with many of the costs of mass displacement if we do not 

succeed. We hope to find other sources of financial support, but the 

City is the best positioned to provide the amounts required. 

Volunteers and donations. There is much on-the-ground work to be 

done. All of the services we are offering the residents of Rudd’s are 

provided by volunteers. We are soliciting the volunteer services of 

building professionals (electricians, engineers, plumbers, carpenters) as 

well as general laborers. We are also seeking donations of building 

materials, the use of tools, and financial resources.  
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  The Future for Rudd’s 

CURRENT SHORT-TERM FIX

The work that the Coalition and Rudd’s residents are doing to fix the 

homes in the park is vitally important, but it is only a short-term 

solution. It will only be successful in the long run if the park is 

transformed into an attractive, sustainable, affordable community that 

looks very different than it does now.  

OWNERSHIP  

The current owners have shown no interest in investing in the 

community for the long term. The Coalition’s vision for the future of the 

park includes placing the property in a Community Land Trust (CLT) or 

similar non-profit structure that can manage the park and its future 

development and get access to funding sources unavailable to a private 

owner. The CLT will be managed by representatives both from local 

community development corporations and from the residents of 

Rudd’s. 
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LONG-TERM REDEVELOPMENT

After immediate infrastructure repairs and upgrades are made, the CLT 

will replace the aging, deteriorated mobile homes with well -built, 

permanent, energy efficient structures similar in size to the footprint of 

the homes they replace. The park itself will also be redesigned and will 

consider community amenities like trash placement, children’s 

playground and social areas to create a sense of place and enhance 

quality of life in the park community outside of the home. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In addition to replacing the homes and renovating the park, the  plan will 

be a long-term collaboration with human service organizations that will 

offer on-site programs to support the residents. These services may 

include tutoring and mentoring for school-age children, personal 

financial management workshops, classes in English as a second 

language, adult literacy programs, etc. 

This project will significantly improve the housing and living conditions 

of low-income mobile homeowners at Rudd’s. Park residents will 

participate in the transformation of their own blighted neighborhood 

into a happy thriving community. They will have new found pride in 

owning a home that appreciates in value, and they can participate in 

management of their community by having seats on the CLT’s Board.  

Examples: post-Katrina housing 

along the Gulf Coast (top); 

modern cabins at Fireside 

Resort in Jackson Hole, WY 

(above, left); post-Katrina 

houses at Cottage Square, 

Ocean Springs, MS (above, 

right); small-home community 

in Portland, Oregon (below). 
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A  RARE OPPORTUNITY

This Coalition offers the City a rare opportunity. By supporting this 

project, the City can avoid the costs of mass displacement, contribute in 

a concrete way to the revitalization of the Jefferson Davis corridor,  and 

at the same time foster an innovative revitalization of affordable 

housing for low-income families.  

Richmond is not alone in facing the challenges of aging mobile home 

parks. By working with the Coalition on its current efforts and future 

plans for Rudd’s, Richmond has the potential to build a model for the 

region and beyond—even nationally.   

 

 

Example: proposal for a new community of small homes in Buena Vista, Colorado. 

Photo credits. Cover: Legal Aid Justice Center; Ralph-R-Sell Photography; South 

Main. Page 1: unknown; Engineering Design Associates. Page 2: City of Richmond 

Code Enforcement; Ralph-R-Sell Photography. Page 3: morguefile.com; Scott 

Elmquist, Style Weekly. Page 5: morguefile.com. Page 6: Ralph-R-Sell 

Photography. Page 7: Ben Brown; Wheelhaus; Bruce Tolar; Tolar Lebatard 

Denmark Architects. Page 8: South Main. 
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 For meeting October 9, 2014 

APPENDIX: SPECIFIC REQUESTS  
 

Even with the enormous investment of the MHP Coalition and allied volunteers and supporters, the 

Rudd’s community cannot realistically be stabilized and redeveloped without concrete support f rom the 

City. We therefore request the following from the City. 

Because of the pressures of time and resources now facing the Rudd’s community, we look forward to 

receiving commitments from the City at our meeting scheduled for October 9.  

. . . 

The costs to the City resulting from the mass displacement of Rudd’s residents would be sizeable. We 

believe that it will be less expensive for the City to provide the modest financial support needed to make 

the Coalition’s plan a success.  

REQUEST: $250,000 to help pay for materials and for a part-time project manager over the next 

4–6 months. 

After the Coalition tried unsuccessfully for months to obtain the services of a structural engineer, 

Commissioner Murrow suggested we contact Charles Field, who is now working on the project with us. 

But the Code Enforcement Office has been eager for more rapid progress addressing structural issues. 

The services of City-employed engineers could help us address the structural code issues more quickly.  

REQUEST: The services of one or more structural engineers that are employed by the City, to 

assist with the structural evaluation and repair plans for homes with Unsafe Structure notices 

based on structural alterations. 

Many of the homes at Rudd’s have been cited for violating Virginia Maintenance Code section 602.2 and 

have received corresponding notices of Unfit Structure (105.1 UF) based on the lack of a permanent 

heating source. The residents of Rudd’s want safe and adequate heat in their homes, and we are 

working with them to make necessary electrical system upgrades and acquire economical heating 

systems for them, but that will not be complete by the City’s October 15 deadline. However, as we 

mentioned in a meeting with Code Enforcement in late June, the plain language of section 602.2 makes 

clear that it does not apply to owner-occupied dwellings, which includes nearly all of the homes at 

Rudd’s. (The Coalition would be happy to provide the City a summary of our legal analysis of the 

relevant statutes.)  

REQUEST: Indefinitely suspend enforcement of VMC section 602.2 and corresponding notices of 

Unfit Structure (105.1 UF) based on the lack of a permanent heating source.  
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Until very recently, the owners of Rudd’s had been making painfully slow progress on complying with 

the code violations cited by City building inspectors this spring. We have little reason to believe that the 

owners will make further upgrades to bring the park into compliance with the higher standards of the 

Manufactured Home Lot Rental Act (“the Act”) in a timely manner without legal action. Unfortunately, 

the remedies the Act offers to residents are weak. But the Act, in Va. Code § 55-248.52, authorizes the 

city attorney to file for injunctive relief to remedy violations. 

REQUEST: The City Attorney’s Office prepare to file suit against the owners of Rudd’s Trailer 

Park for an injunction to compel them to upgrade the electric pedestals to 100 amp panels and 

correct other infrastructure deficiencies to bring the park into compliance with the landlord’s 

obligations under Va. Code § 55-248.43 and other provisions of the Manufactured Home Lot 

Rental Act. 
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NOTICE TO CITY 
INSPECTORS 

The residents of this manufactured 
home do not consent to its inspection 
at this time and will not grant you 

entrance unless you present an 
inspection warrant, obtained pursuant 

to Va. Code § 36-105(C)(3). 

Thank you for your courtesy in not 
requesting to enter and inspect.  

 
 

EN ESPAÑOL: 
Los residentes/dueños de esta casa prefabricada no dan su 

consentimiento para que se realice la inspección en este momento y no 
permitirá su entrada a menos que presente una orden de inspección, 

obtenida en conformidad con Va. Code §36-105(C)(3). 
 

Gracias por su cortesía en no solicitar entrar a hacer una inspección. 

 
 

NOTICE TO CITY 
INSPECTORS 

The residents of this manufactured 
home do not consent to its inspection 
at this time and will not grant you 

entrance unless you present an 
inspection warrant, obtained pursuant 

to Va. Code § 36-105(C)(3). 

Thank you for your courtesy in not 
requesting to enter and inspect.  

 
 

EN ESPAÑOL: 
Los residentes/dueño de esta casa prefabricada no dan su  

consentimiento para que se realice la inspección en este momento y no 
permitirá su entrada a menos que presente una orden de inspección, 

obtenida en conformidad con Va. Code §36-105(C)(3). 
 

Gracias por su cortesía en no solicitar entrar a hacer una inspección.  



Funcionarios de la Ciudad de Richmond planean 
inspeccionar las viviendas en Mobile Towne entre el 3 y el 17 
de marzo del 2015. Luego, cada hogar recibirá una notificación 
de violaciones describiendo aquellas cosas que el dueño de la 
casa debe reparar o quitar para cumplir con el Código de 
Mantenimiento de Virginia. 

Los inspectores sólo pueden entrar en la casa con el 
consentimiento de los residentes, a menos que obtengan una 
orden de un magistrado o juez. Según la ley, sólo pueden 
conseguir una orden si reciben una queja sobre una violación 
al código que es una amenaza inmediata e inminente para la 
salud o seguridad. Código de Virginia § 36-105(C)(3). 

A menos que los inspectores tengan una orden, los 
residentes de las viviendas tienen el derecho legal a negarles la 
entrada a su casa. Si no quiere permitir a los inspectores la 
entrada a su hogar, usted puede pegar en su puerta el aviso en 
la parte de atrás de esta hoja o puede decirle al inspector que 
pide permiso para entrar que usted no le concede permiso. 

Si usted tiene alguna pregunta sobre sus derechos legales y 
las inspecciones de la ciudad, no dude en comunicarse con el 
Centro de Justicia de Asistencia Legal al 804-643-1086. 

Officials from the City of Richmond are planning to inspect 
homes in Mobile Towne between March 3 and March 17, 2015. They 
will then issue a Notice of Violations describing what the home 
owner must repair or remove to comply with the Maintenance Code. 

Inspectors may only enter a home with the consent of the 
residents, unless they obtain a warrant from a magistrate or judge. 
According to the law, inspectors may only get a warrant if they 
receive a complaint about a code violation that is an immediate and 
imminent threat to health or safety. Va. Code § 36-105(C)(3). 

Unless the inspectors have a warrant, residents of homes have 
the legal right to deny them entry into their home. If you do not 
want to allow inspectors into your home, you may tape the notice on 
the reverse of this page to your front door, or you may tell an 
inspector who asks to enter that you do not grant permission. 

If you have any questions about the inspections and your legal 
rights, please contact the Legal Aid Justice Center, 804-643-1086. 

Phillip T. Storey is the attorney responsible for the contents of this sheet.  
Legal Aid Justice Center, 123 E. Broad St., Richmond, VA 23219 

Funcionarios de la Ciudad de Richmond planean 
inspeccionar las viviendas en Mobile Towne entre el 3 y el 17 
de marzo del 2015. Luego, cada hogar recibirá una notificación 
de violaciones describiendo aquellas cosas que el dueño de la 
casa debe reparar o quitar para cumplir con el Código de 
Mantenimiento de Virginia. 

Los inspectores sólo pueden entrar en la casa con el 
consentimiento de los residentes, a menos que obtengan una 
orden de un magistrado o juez. Según la ley, sólo pueden 
conseguir una orden si reciben una queja sobre una violación 
al código que es una amenaza inmediata e inminente para la 
salud o seguridad. Código de Virginia § 36-105(C)(3). 

A menos que los inspectores tengan una orden, los 
residentes de las viviendas tienen el derecho legal a negarles la 
entrada a su casa. Si no quiere permitir a los inspectores la 
entrada a su hogar, usted puede pegar en su puerta el aviso en 
la parte de atrás de esta hoja o puede decirle al inspector que 
pide permiso para entrar que usted no le concede permiso. 

Si usted tiene alguna pregunta sobre sus derechos legales y 
las inspecciones de la ciudad, no dude en comunicarse con el 
Centro de Justicia de Asistencia Legal al 804-643-1086. 

Officials from the City of Richmond are planning to inspect 
homes in Mobile Towne between March 3 and March 17, 2015. They 
will then issue a Notice of Violations describing what the home 
owner must repair or remove to comply with the Maintenance Code. 

Inspectors may only enter a home with the consent of the 
residents, unless they obtain a warrant from a magistrate or judge. 
According to the law, inspectors may only get a warrant if they 
receive a complaint about a code violation that is an immediate and 
imminent threat to health or safety. Va. Code § 36-105(C)(3). 

Unless the inspectors have a warrant, residents of homes have 
the legal right to deny them entry into their home. If you do not 
want to allow inspectors into your home, you may tape the notice on 
the reverse of this page to your front door, or you may tell an 
inspector who asks to enter that you do not grant permission. 

If you have any questions about the inspections and your legal 
rights, please contact the Legal Aid Justice Center, 804-643-1086. 

Phillip T. Storey is the attorney responsible for the contents of this sheet.  
Legal Aid Justice Center, 123 E. Broad St., Richmond, VA 23219 
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Phil Storey

From: Robertson, Ellen F. - Council Member 
<Ellen.Robertson@richmondgov.com>

Sent: Tuesday, March 10, 2015 4:59 PM
To: John Moeser; Phil Storey; Lee Householder
Subject: Fwd: Trailer park code enforcement

This is Attorney Jackson response to my communicating with him on last Thursday.  
 
 
 
 
 
Sent from my iPhone 
 
Begin forwarded message: 

From: "Jackson, Allen L. ‐ City Attorney" <Allen.L.Jackson@Richmondgov.com> 
Date: March 9, 2015 at 12:13:13 PM EDT 
To: "Robertson, Ellen F. ‐ Council Member" <Ellen.Robertson@richmondgov.com> 
Cc: "Lukanuski, Greg A. ‐ City Attorney" <Greg.Lukanuski@richmondgov.com> 
Subject: Trailer park code enforcement 

Mrs. Robertson 
                Following our telephone conversation on Thursday afternoon, I spoke with the 
attorney we have assigned to assist code enforcement, Greg Lukanuski.  We understand 
that code enforcement has taken the position that they will NOT condemn trailers that 
potentially violate the building and property maintenance codes, for the time being, 
EXCEPT in cases in which they conclude that there is a serious and imminent threat to 
safety.  Accordingly, it should not surprise that there may be individual cases in which a 
current occupant reports being threatened with eviction, either because a safety issue 
actually exists but is not being addressed or because the occupant seeks to deny access 
to an inspector whose goal is to determine whether such a safety issue exists.   
                Our communications with legal representatives have mirrored the position 
taken by code enforcement as we have endeavored to explain how these state laws 
apply.  We are continuing to work with legal representatives trying to reach an amicable 
and successful resolution in all cases while still supporting the interests of public safety.   
                Please let me know if you have other questions. 
                                Allen 

Allen L. Jackson 
City Attorney 
900 East Broad Street, Suite 300 
Richmond, VA 23219 



2

Direct (804) 646‐7969 
Cell (804) 337‐4712 
Fax (804) 646‐6653 
  

This message is intended only for the named addressees.  It may be confidential or 
protected by the attorney-client privilege or the work product doctrine.  If you have 
received this message in error, do not read it.  Please reply to the sender that you have 
received the message in error and then delete the message.  Thank you. 
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